DRA Wellbeing Study Project Closure Report 25 February 2024







MOVEMBER®



No.

Table of contents

Table of contents	2
About the report	2
DRA Wellbeing Study executive summary	4
DRA in a nutshell	4
Chapter 1. project background and description of DRA	10
Chapter 2. Aims and methods	14
Chapter 3. Developing the DRA Wellbeing Model – a literature review to identify potential active mechanisms that drive mental health and wellbeing in DRA volunteers	20
Chapter 4. Using qualitative interviews to validate the main components of the wellbeing model.	26
Chapter 5. Participant characteristics and information on recruitment and engagement	35
Chapter 7. Long-term impact – responses from survey	43
Chapter 8. Immediate impact on mental health	46
Chapter 9. Longitudinal impact of the volunteering program	49
Chapter 10. Summary of report findings	53
References	57

About the report

This report was prepared for Disaster Relief Australia (DRA) by dr. Joep van Agteren and dr. Matthew Iasiello from the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI) Be Well Co.

We want to thank DRA for the opportunity to conduct the study that underpins this report. In particular, we want to thank the Wellbeing Project team members Cindy Wadsworth, Anastasia Bougesis and Michael Hoffman, DRA leadership and its CEO Geoff Evans, and the DRA members that have contributed their valuable time and data to this project. We want to thank Movember and the Distinguished Gentleman's Ride - the project funders - for their support, the provision of expertise and the opportunities to connect and share with other Veterans and First Responders Mental Health Grant Program recipients. We also want to thank them for the opportunity to connect with the wider grant program evaluator, University of Canberra, in particular Sue Lukersmith and Cindy Woods.

We finally want to thank dr. Dan Fassnacht and dr. Kathina Ali for their support throughout the project, dr. Jonathan Bartholomaeus for guidance with the analysis plan and the wider SAHMRI Be Well Co team for their support in conducting this project.

DRA Wellbeing Study executive summary

DRA in a nutshell

Disaster Relief Australia (DRA) is a veteran-led notfor-profit organisation. DRA brings hope and relief to communities devastated by disasters, helping people in their worst days. DRA's mission is to unite the skills and experience of military veterans and emergency service specialists to deploy disaster relief teams in Australia and around the world in the wake of natural disasters and humanitarian crises. DRA is present in every state and territory nationally, ensuring continuous capacity to assist Australian communities when they need it most. Between and during disaster response operations, DRA engages its volunteers across Australia by providing additional benefits such as continued professional development, training, employment opportunities, community service projects and social events.

DRA Wellbeing Study

Prior research indicates that participating in volunteering and civic service may have positive associations with mental health and wellbeing. Volunteering in general has for example been linked to a range of factors associated with good mental wellbeing, including building a sense of meaning and purpose, a sense of connection and community, and a sense of benevolence and contribution to a larger cause than oneself. In promoting these aspects of wellbeing, volunteering could prevent the development of future mental health challenges.

The DRA Wellbeing Study is an independent scientific study, funded by Movember (men's health and wellbeing advocates) and the Distinguished Gentlemen's ride that investigates whether service in DRA - by being part of a volunteer program that taps into the specific skillsets and qualities that veterans, first responders and other civilian volunteers can bring to aiding in disaster relief work - can lead to psychological and psychosocial health benefits for the volunteers. The grant has a specific focus on male veterans and first responders. This study however extended to all DRA volunteers: this report discusses the findings for all members with a separate report being prepared that specifically covers the implications from a male veteran and first responder perspective.

The study, led by the South Australian Health and Medical Research institute (SAHMRI), ran between March 2022 to February 2024, studying 786 DRA volunteers. Participants from every Australian state and territory contributed to the study.

Aim of the report

This report summarises the results from the DRA Wellbeing Study, and provides:

- A literature review of veteran-specific and general literature on mental health and wellbeing, resulting in a proposed model of wellbeing that describes how volunteering for DRA impacts member mental health.
- 2. Qualitative data validating the DRA Wellbeing model, describing the longer term impact that volunteering for DRA has on volunteers, their mental health and their life in general.
- 3. A baseline profile of study participants
- 4. A description of overall longer-term benefits participants noted through survey responses.
- 5. Data on the immediate impact that participating in disaster relief deployments has on mental health outcomes.
- 6. Data on the impact of volunteering using quarterly surveys over a 12 month period.
- 7. A conclusion and implications section

Please note: the report is geared towards a general audience and as such *does not* provide detailed statistical information, which will be the focus of a dedicated scientific article.

A note on mental health

In this report, the term mental health is used as an umbrella term that captures states of mental illness and distress, as well as states of wellbeing. These two states – illness and wellbeing, the characteristics that define them, and their causes – should be seen as related but independent outcomes, as is evidenced by the most recent developments in academic literature and by lived experience. For example, one can be diagnosed with and recovering from illness (e.g. PTSD) while also experiencing aspects of wellbeing (e.g. purpose, positive relationships). Improving wellbeing not only can prevent illness from occurring, but it can also aid in its recovery, providing the argumentation for the important role that target characteristics of wellbeing via volunteering can have on the mental health of DRA members.

Developing DRA's Wellbeing Model

To provide a framework for the study, we created a theoretical model to describe how DRA may affect volunteer wellbeing. Via the literature review presented in chapter 3, we describe the fact that the mechanisms through which volunteering for DRA may lead to improved mental health, is distinct from that of mainstay mental health interventions such as psychological therapy. Where the latter are geared towards largely dealing with immediate symptoms of *illness*, the activities one does for DRA map primarily onto drivers of mental *wellbeing*.

Chapter 3 proposes that DRA allows volunteers to

- Be physically active, working towards a common goal by helping others at their darkest hour.
- 2. Be in an accepting environment with positive role models that utilises many positive qualities of the veteran identity.
- 3. Undertake training and development opportunities.
- 4. be recognised for contribution of valuable skills.

These mechanisms are proposed to promote DRA members' wellbeing, including a renewed sense of identity, optimism about the future, competence, purpose, self-development, enjoyment and positive relationships. As such the model proposes that volunteering for DRA is inherently strength and capacity-building in nature, rather than focused on eliminating deficits. All of this is done through a vehicle (volunteering) that does not overtly talk about mental health, reducing many of the perceived threats that engaging in wellbeing-promoting behaviours can bring. For example, veterans participate in communal get-togethers that happen at the end of each day of deployments. This does not just form long-lasting relationships but allows peers to discuss and reflect upon a shared experience, which often includes reflecting on ways to handle their mental health ongoingly.

In parallel with these more organic benefits that people get from volunteering, DRA provides official wellbeing supports, including follow-up wellbeing phone calls after deployments and member checkins during deployments by for example the wellbeing manager when people may be struggling during deployment.

Figure 1 outlined below and presented again in Chapter 3 captures the argument put forth in the review into a singular image describing the model, showing that a combination of informal and semiformal wellbeing-promoting activities during and after deployment, supported by a culture that promotes self-development, connection and a sense of a shared identity, can lead to improvements in mental wellbeing, which in turn can prevent veteran mental health from worsening or actively aid veterans in their recovery process.



Figure 1. DRA Wellbeing Model proposing the mechanisms through which DRA promotes antecedents of wellbeing, which together with monitoring for more symptoms can help promote healing and prevent more serious problems from occurring

Qualitative interviews: validating the DRA wellbeing model

How did we test this? We ran a set of 33 in-depth interviews with a diverse group of DRA members, ranging from those that are highly engaged, to people who never ended up deploying and from critical friends to current staff. Results are described in chapter 4.

What did we find? The semi-structured interviews shed detailed insights into the motivations and impact experienced by volunteers, thereby providing evidence to validate and support the DRA Wellbeing model. The interviews particularly provide validation for the unique elements that DRA brings to volunteers and how and why they influence their mental health and wellbeing:

- DRA provided volunteers a (renewed) sense of purpose, by getting people to reconnect to serving the community, offering volunteers perspective on their own life situation.
- Volunteers could generally be grouped into two distinct groups: those that were vulnerable or had a more troubling life journey versus those that are (currently) traveling well in life and wanted to start giving back to society. Both groups indicated to have found benefits for their wellbeing in their own ways.
- Many of the vulnerable volunteers were veterans, as opposed to first responders or other civilians. Volunteering made more vulnerable veterans feel useful again, helping them regain a sense of purpose, often in times when they felt they did not have many options left. The increased sense of self-worth was greatly stimulated by the accepting environment within DRA. This was particularly important for some veterans who valued the self-development opportunities at times when they were at extreme low points in their lives.
- The accepting culture of like-minded people that embraced the military identity provides positive role modelling, allowing some of the veterans to go from a place of shame to finding a sense of pride in their military past. This positive environment of role models was again of particularly value to male veterans, who often spoke about more problematic cultural and behaviour traits within services staff.
- At the same time, this positive military-based goal-driven environment was key to engage

volunteers. For example, many first responders we spoke to found this particularly appealing as it provided an environment that felt familiar to them

- Upskilling opportunities provided by DRA helped build participants' self-worth, while also giving them credentials to have better opportunities in day-to-day life, including being able to attract paid employment.
- Being able to deploy with family enhanced the experience for a subset of members.
- While for some the mental health benefits were not the most obvious benefits, others credited DRA directly as being one of the foremost reasons they are still alive. As one of the interviewees noted:

"...See, the easiest way I can put it is probably.. DRA saved my life. that's how I feel for sure."

The baseline mental health profile of DRA volunteers

DRA volunteers on average score well on mental health outcome measures, specifically when comparing them to a general population control group, indicating a relatively mentally healthy population. The respondents were generally open to work on their mental health, both in terms of engaging with formal services and informal or selfhelp avenues. A potential explanation for some of the higher results lies in the presence of a high proportion of older volunteers, who generally demonstrate better mental health compared to young people and people in midlife. Regardless of the good average scores at baseline, there is still a sizeable cohort of people who display symptoms of current mental illness (current pathology).



Figure 2. Number of participants which met official cut-offs (dark blue parts of the graph) on the scientific questionnaires we used to indicate they show current symptoms of mental illness (left) or met a risk cut-off on any of the measures we used (right).

Attitudes towards volunteering in the total sample of participants

How did we test this? We asked participants in the quarterly studies questions on their perceptions of the volunteering experience at DRA using a combination of rating scales and free-text responses. Results are presented in chapter 7. What did we find? The surveys showed us that:

- 81% of respondents, most who had been with the organisation for 1 or more years, reported that DRA had a positive or very positive effect on them in general, with 74.5% saying that DRA had a positive or very positive effect specifically on their mental health. Those that rated the impact lower often explained that they had not yet been deployed (e.g. they were new members who had not yet deployed at time of the survey, effectively placing them in the control group)
- Of the military veteran respondents, 53% indicated that volunteering with DRA helped them during their transition to civilian life.
 Some indicated that DRA did not help transition largely because their transition was either smooth or happened too far in the past.
- Volunteers who deployed with their family indicated how deploying together was a positive experience that helped family members form a stronger bond.

The immediate impact of deployments

How did we test this? We surveyed 91 volunteers daily for a period of two weeks capturing their mental health before, during and immediately after deployments. We measured a range of wellbeing and distress indicators. We used specific statistical tests to confirm that the changes we observed were both real and meaningful. Results are provided in chapter 8.

What did we find? The data – graphed in figure 3 and 4 and worked out further in chapter 8 - clearly shows that mental health outcomes of volunteers improved during and immediately after deployment, as can be seen in the change from pre-deployment scores. Across the total sample, all measured outcomes (wellbeing indicators, purpose, anxiety, depression, loneliness, resilience) improved significantly with scientifically meaningful effect sizes, except for stress. Observing scientifically meaningful effects effectively means that the observed differences in our data are unlikely to be the result of chance, i.e. they highlight a real observed positive change. Effects remained significant post deployment for wellbeing indicators, purpose, loneliness, anxiety and feeling resilient. Vulnerable individuals with a mental health diagnosis showed significantly larger effects for all outcomes, indicating that this group experienced significantly stronger changes in their mental health as a result of deployment.



Figure 3. Daily surveys on wellbeing outcomes grouped into scores per stage of deployment. Higher scores reflect improvement.



Figure 4. Daily surveys on distress and loneliness grouped into scores per stage of deployment. Lower scores reflect improvement.

Longer-term impacts: results from the quarterly studies

How did we test this? We conducted quarterly surveys over a 12 month period. 733 out of the total 786 Participants filled out surveys on a range of scientifically validated mental health questionnaires. We ran statistical analyses on the observations over time and compared DRA volunteers who were actively deploying, with two separate control groups, being: DRA volunteers who were inactive in the moment and a general population control group.

What did we find? Results from a range of statistical analyses showed us that active volunteering significantly impacts mental health outcomes over the 12-month period. Volunteers need to however show ongoing commitment to see longer-term benefits as people who only deploy one-time do not show a significant improvement. Overall, results most consistently indicated improvements in wellbeing, optimism, loneliness and lower distress, depression and anxiety symptoms for people who actively deployed compared to the control groups. Figure 5 and 6 below shows the trajectories for wellbeing and anxiety respectively. Graphs for the other outcomes can be found on page 51. On the whole, and in line with the deployment studies, effects seemed to be more pronounced for people with



Figure 5. Quarterly scores on the outcome of mental wellbeing for the three study groups.



Figure 6. Quarterly scores on the outcome of anxiety for the three study groups.

one of the mental health risk cores, although results over the 12-month period were less marked than observed in the deployment studies.

Conclusion and implications

This study, which is underpinned by a number of distinct methodologies combining quantitative and qualitative data over a longer period of time, provides robust evidence indicating that volunteering for DRA can have a material benefit on an individual's mental health and wellbeing, particularly for volunteers who deploy regularly and those that have poorer mental health to start with.

This is particularly striking considering DRA is not a mental health service, but rather makes a positive contribution through its modus operandi and culture. It shows how important informal pathways can be in helping people improve their outlook in life and the way they feel, while at the same time providing an essential service (i.e. disaster relief) to the nation. By creating an environment that gets volunteers physically active, by helping people in need, creating an accepting environment that positively renews the veteran identity, and doing so while offering opportunities for upskilling and recognition, the data so far supports the notion that volunteering at DRA leads to improved aspects of members' wellbeing. This activity-driven nature, combined with a supportive environment of positive role models seems particularly useful for male veterans looking to find ways to improve their mental health wellbeing.

Despite data collection having come to an end, dissemination of the project's results has only just begun. This report marks the start for analysing the wealth of data collected in this study, with conference presentations and number of peer reviewed publications being prepared.

Chapter 1. project background and description of DRA

About Disaster Relief Australia

Mission and purpose

Disaster Relief Australia (DRA) is a veteran-led notfor-profit organisation, which brings relief to communities devastated by disasters, providing help and hope for people in their toughest days.

DRA's mission is to unite the skills and experience of military veterans with emergency service specialists to deploy disaster relief teams in Australia and around the world in the wake of natural disasters and humanitarian crises.

Description of key activities

DRA combines modern military technology with emergency services best-practice and operates at the cutting edge of disaster relief.

DRA provides a range of professional relief capabilities, include incident management; work order management; expedient home repair; damage and impact assessment; spontaneous volunteer management; first aid and psychological first aid supports; aerial damage assessment and mapping; debris management and restoring access, plus building resilience and capacity building.

DRA coordinates 'operations' in response to disasters and crises. Each operation carries a unique name that pays homage to DRA's focus on veterans and the military community. Operations consists of a series of 'deployment waves', which last approximately a week. Volunteers are able to join one or more deployments waves per operation, depending on their availability and interest in contributing to the particular relief effort. There is no minimum number of deployments one needs to do: the choice of volunteering for a particular operation is entirely up to the individual volunteer.

Between and during disaster response operations, DRA engages its volunteers across Australia by providing additional benefits such as continued professional development, training, employment opportunities, community service projects and social events.

DRA has Disaster Relief Teams located in every state and territory nationally, providing it with greater capacity to assist Australian communities when they need it the most.

As mentioned before, DRA is a proud veteran-led organisation, but is open to non-veterans. Of particular interest is the recruitment of first responders, both active first responders and those who have retired, as first responders have specific skillsets to deal with the aftermath of a disaster.

DRA is also a family affair, with the organisation actively encouraging family members - most notably family members of veterans - to deploy together, to improve family relationships and connections.

The potential benefit of volunteering on mental health

While the principal aim for many DRA members is to serve disaster affected communities, focusing on delivering positive outcomes for people other than themselves, there is reason to think this contribution may have positive flow-on effects for the individual volunteer's mental health and wellbeing (1). Establishing whether there is a potential positive effect of volunteering for DRA specifically, is particularly interesting considering the two key population groups the organisation relies on: military veterans and first responders.

Mental Health in Veterans and first responders.

Military veteran mental health is widely documented to be a crucial challenge with rates of depression and anxiety, substance abuse, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and high risk of suicide being prevalent (2-4). In addition to the aforementioned potential negative impact that service can have on the mental health of military veterans, particularly if they have seen active combat(5), it is posited that the mental health and wellbeing of veterans can be impaired as a result of integration challenges after service (6, 7). Life during service is highly structured, services staff often feel driven in a common purpose, they feel part of a tight community and feel respected for what they stand for. When re-integrating into civilian society, many of these factors are affected. These include loss of purpose when returning home, lack of social networks, limited number of social relationships, stigmatisation towards discussing mental health, and difficulty transferring skills learned in the military to civilian employment (8). These challenges compound the high prevalence of mental health problems, and feed into related problems such as the rates of homelessness in the veteran population (9).

Similar to services staff, mental health challenges are well documented in emergency services staff and first responders(10, 11). For example, a national survey of over 21,000 police and emergency services personnel in Australia highlighted the similarity in both statistics between the veteran and first responder cohorts (12). The study found that one in four former emergency services personnel suffer probable PTSD, with one in five experiencing high psychological distress. In their drive to do well for the wider community and other people, self-care takes a backseat with helpseeking and service use among first responders traditionally being low (13).

Volunteering as a complementary strategy to improve drivers of good mental health.

Formal interventions, structured programs and therapy are often seen as the default way to help improve someone's mental health and wellbeing. Even though they have an established evidence base to show their significant positive impacts, they are not the only way to help people improve their mental health. The What Works guides by Beyond Blue clearly show that a range of other activities have emerging or established evidence in improving outcomes such as depression, anxiety and mental wellbeing (14-16).

Volunteering may be one of these activities. The positive impact of volunteering is often considered to be linked to helping contribute to a greater good, feeling a sense of purpose, utilising one's skills and being part of a like-minded community (17-20). Importantly, as argued earlier, these factors may be impaired for some returning service men and woman, meaning volunteering could be thought of as an informal avenue to improve these challenges to mental health. Similarly, tapping into a sense of purpose and desire to help people in need, directly taps into core values for first responders and veterans. This implies that there may be an opportunity to use volunteering as an informal avenue to improve the state of these wellbeing drivers and in turn help build wellbeing and mental health, not just for returned services staff but for first responders and any other volunteer for that matter as well.

Indeed, for the last five years, DRA has been collecting qualitative data on the experience of the veterans and first responders that engaged with their volunteering program (21). This rough preliminary data validates the above mentioned existing scientific insights: the data shows recurring themes of loss of purpose, and the importance of identity, camaraderie and skills transfer the program brings, all themes that are in alignment with existing literature (8).

The Veterans and First Responders Mental Health Grant Program

To test the positive impact that volunteering for DRA has on its volunteers, DRA teamed up with researchers from the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI) and Flinders University to develop and implement the DRA Wellbeing study.

The study was funded as part of a competitive global grant program by Movember and the Distinguished Gentleman's ride. The Veterans and First Responders Mental Health Grant Program. This grant program was developed in direct response to the aforementioned increased risk of mental health problems, including a higher risk of suicide in the veteran and first responders' community.

The program sets out to identify promising initiatives that aim to improve veteran and first responder's mental health and lower suicide risk, by providing funding and other supports to projects that demonstrate their effectiveness. The DRA Wellbeing study was one of 15 successful projects from across Australia, New Zealand, Europe, United Kingdom, Canada and the United States.

A gendered lens

The Veterans and First Responders Mental Health Grant Program has placed a specific focus on the role of gender in improving health outcomes. As such the program emphasises the need for funded projects to apply a 'gendered lens' or in other words, to actively consider how gender can play a positive or negative role in leading to changed outcomes.

Unlike other studies within the program, who develop or adapt interventions, the DRA wellbeing study is an observational evaluation study. Rather than using a gendered lens to positively change DRA *during* the study, our focus is to use a gendered lens while we *evaluate*, using the findings to provide DRA with knowledge to harness positive masculinity and improve the way it functions in the future. The results will be integrated within the wider narrative of this report, and a separate document will be created that pulls the threads together.

Chapter 2. Aims and methods

Aims for the current report

The DRA Wellbeing Study (Study) set out to capture the impact that volunteering for DRA has on the mental health and wellbeing of its members. The Study ran between March 2022 and February 2024. This report summarises its findings. The report sets out to achieve a number of key aims.

Aim 1: to provide a literature review that integrates innovative insights from of veteran- and firstresponder specific and general mental health publications. It provides the theoretical logic that describes how activities within DRA can contribute to positive improvements in a range of aspects of wellbeing, and in turn reduce risk of mental illness. This results in a wellbeing model visualising how volunteering at DRA improves mental health outcomes.

Aim 2: to describe the results from in-depth semistructured qualitative interviews on the impact of DRA volunteering in general. Interviews with a subset of participants allows us to detail various 'stories of change', which are difficult to capture using singular questions in surveys or the numbersdriven (or quantitative) approaches that underpin some of the next aims.

Aim 3: to establish a baseline profile of the study participants. The report provides a general picture of the respondents within the study, providing insights into their demographic make-up and their general mental health profile at the start of the study.

Aim 4: to use the results from a subset of survey questions to form an initial understanding of the tangible benefits that volunteers have experienced since they joined DRA. It explores how it may have impacted their life and their mental health, whether it helped them in their transition from the military or first responder careers and what impact volunteering with family members had for those who deployed together. **Aim 5:** to describe the impact that DRA deployments specifically have on mental health and wellbeing before, during and after deployments. We used a daily diary methodology to capture daily levels of mental health for a two week period, allowing us to scientifically capture the immediate benefit that volunteers may experience.

Aim 6: to describe the results from five quarterly surveys spanning 12 months of activity in DRA. This allows us to map differences in mental health outcomes for DRA members who actively deploy versus those that do not, while at the same time comparing this to a non-DRA control group for context.

Aim 7: to integrate the findings from aim 1 to 6, provide a brief explanation of and context to its findings and discussing a number of recommendations that stem from the study's findings.

The methods that underpin this study

This chapter provides a brief description of the methodology used within the study, aiming to provide the most *essential* knowledge needed to properly understand its findings and conclusions.

Project overview and timeline

To explain the methods we used, it first pays to understand the timeline that the study worked towards, which is visualised on the next page. The visual details highlight the timeline of specific project phases. Following an initial setup, the project embarked on a pilot phase. During this stage, we evaluated the survey distribution process to members and conducted multiple trial runs to assess the execution of the 2-week deployment sub-studies. After a short series of adjustments informed by the pilot's outcomes, the study officially began its first quarterly studies in August 2022.

The project team set up a website and developed a communication strategy before the launch of the first quarterly survey. Every volunteer went on to receive a personalised email invite to take part in. the 12 month study. The surveys remained open for 2-3 weeks on end, with volunteers receiving multiple reminders to complete surveys in case they did not yet complete a survey. To build engagement, the project team also launched group challenges per local Disaster Relief Team (DRT), using members and leaders within the DRT to further promote participation.

The visual names the key outcome variables that were measured within each of the quarterly surveys. Variables and questions remained the same across the time points, allowing us to measure any change over time. The outcome measures are explained in more detail below.

The semi-structured interviews took place between May and November 2023. These were conducted with a subset of volunteers. These volunteers were selected via two ways:

- We used the DRA project team to identify a number of different types of volunteers and employees.
- 2. We invited volunteers that participated in at least one of the surveys.

The figure also displays the three groups (DRA active group, DRA control group and general population control group) that are being compared throughout the quarterly study.

Finally, the timeline indicates the fact that deployments happened all throughout the active period of the study. We combined the data from all the operations to form the deployment studies. The dots on the timeline are indicative only and aim to illustrate that deployments were scattered during the year, depending on when disasters have occurred.

The bottom part of the visual details the timeline for an individual deployment study. Deployment studies centre around disaster relief 'operations'. Each operation consists of a number of deployments. The aim of the deployment substudies was to measure the effect that going on deployment has on mental health and wellbeing.

The figure details 15 measurements that were conducted before, during and after a deployment, as well as a final measurement at day 21. Each day the participant received a single question for each of the variables mentioned in the figure. The questions were taken from the validated scientific scales we used for the quarterly studies.









Figure 7. Visual showing the timeline for the study. It highlights when different phases occur and shows the timing for measurements during the quarterly studies (top) and deployment sub-studies (bottom). It also provides the outcome measures we used and their acronyms, which are further described on the next page.

What outcome measures were used?

A combination of validated mental health and wellbeing questionnaires were used in the quarterly studies. We measured positive mental health indicators, where higher scores reflect better outcomes, and negative mental health indicators, where higher scores reflect poorer outcomes.

Positive mental health outcomes

General wellbeing: The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (SWEMWBS) was used to assess mental wellbeing including eudaimonic and hedonic aspects of wellbeing (22). The 14-item scale asks participants to indicate how often, over the past two weeks, from 0 (*none of the time*) to 5 (*all of the time*) they have experienced different thoughts and feelings (e.g., "I've been feeling useful.").

Resilience: was captured using the Brief Resilience Scale (BRS), which measures someone's interpretations of their ability to deal with and bounce back from stress or adversity (23). Participants answered 6 questions on a 1 (Strongly disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree) scale (e.g., I tend to bounce back quickly after hard times).

Meaning: The Meaning in Life Questionnaire (MLQ; (24)) consists of 10 items in two subscales that measure the presence and the search for meaning in life. Items are rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Absolutely untrue*) to 7 (*Absolutely true*). A higher mean score on each subscale reflects higher levels of the presence and the search for meaning in life, respectively.

Optimism: was measured using the Revised Life Orientation Test (LOT-R; (25)). The LOT-R is a 10item scale designed to assess individual differences in generalised optimism versus pessimism. The scale responses range from 0 (Strongly disagree) to 4 (Strongly agree).

Negative mental health outcomes

Psychological Distress: was captured using the Kessler-6. (26), which measures *non-specific* symptoms of depression and anxiety. The 10 items are rated on a five-point Likert scale (ranging from "none of the time" to "all of the time").

Depression: The 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) (27) was used to assess specific symptoms of depression. Participants respond on a 4-point Likert scale from 0 (*not at all*) to 3 (*nearly every day*) how often they have experienced depressive symptoms (e.g., "feeling tired or having little energy" or "feeling down, depressed, or hopeless").

Anxiety: The 7-item General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) (28) was used to assess specific symptoms of anxiety. Participants respond on a 4-point Likert scale from 0 (*not at all*) to 3 (*nearly every day*) how often they have experienced symptoms of anxiety (e.g., "feeling nervous, anxious or on edge" or "trouble relaxing")

Loneliness: Loneliness was measured using an adapted version of the Three-Item Loneliness Scale which is a short form of the Revised UCLA loneliness scale (29), measuring feeling isolated, disconnected, and lacking social connectedness. Participants responded on a 5-point scale from 1 (Never) to 5 (All of the time).

Other outcomes

We asked a number of additional questions on different moments during the 12-month period.

- Questions on help-seeking: various individual items will be used to capture mental health help-seeking behaviour and use of services at baseline.
- DRA specific questions: we asked a number of questions related to participant's experience of DRA and the impact it has had on their lives and wellbeing.

Pulse measure during deployment

To assess day-to-day wellbeing during deployments, singular items for each of the abovementioned mental health outcomes, with response scales adjusted to focus on that specific day (rather than for instance the past week). The 'bestloading' item, i.e. the item that explains most variance of the total score, based on past datasets that we have on each of the mental health outcomes. Each item was checked for face validity to ensure the item adequately captures the construct.

Analysis methods

This report tries to strike a balance between scientific accuracy and readability for a wide audience. To achieve this, the report *does not* provide detailed statistical information, but rather provides interpretations of the data to indicate whether the analyses we conducted found scientifically meaningful results or not. The exact analyses and statistical output that underpins the report will be made available in a separate appendix for those interested, as well as a scientific article to be published in the future.

When the report mentions *significant* changes or differences, it means that we used a statistical method to assess if a meaningful difference is likely to exist. Specifically we use a combination of significance testing together with effect sizes. Only when statistical criteria for both were met, would we report that a difference existed.

We used a combination of different techniques to determine whether we could observe meaningful changes over time. We:

- conducted a completer analysis using a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA), to interrogate the responses of participants that provided data for each of the time-points.
- We also ran multi-level models, to firstly account for within-person variances and to be able to use data from participants who dropped out along the way.
- We finally modelled what the data would look like if drop-out did not occur, by using multiple imputation, to further validate our results.

The combination of these different analyses techniques to form judgement on the results (rather than choosing one over the other) was deemed necessary to counter a number of challenges with the data that made the use of each of the individual approaches difficult, including for example high levels of drop-out throughout the trial.

For any differences at baseline we use less complex analyses, mostly relying on a combination of ttests, analyses of variance (ANOVA's).

The qualitative interviews were generally 1 hour long, took place online using teleconferencing

software and were semi-structured. The findings were summarised via deductive thematic analysis, following pre-determined themes of interest, all the while facilitating inductive elements as individuals were allowed to introduce new themes and topics in the interviews (30).

Chapter 3. Developing the DRA Wellbeing Model – a literature review to identify potential active mechanisms that drive mental health and wellbeing in DRA volunteers

A brief note to start the chapter.

This chapter was originally created for an interim project report, which was used to brief the Royal Commission into Defence and Veteran Suicide. For this final report we aimed to leave the review as close as possible to the review presented to the commission, with some added reference to first responders and civilians at certain points. It therefore may read more veteran-centric compared to other chapters. What is important to note is that the underlying theoretical rationale for the wellbeing model that is presented at the end of the chapter universally applies to DRA, regardless of veteran-status.

The literature on risk and protective factors for the mental health of transitioning defence force personnel and veterans is extensive and is covered in-depth within a number of detailed reports dedicated to the Australian veteran setting, including the interim report of the Royal Commission into Defence and Veteran Suicide (2) and others (4). The below literature review aims to synthesise insights from Australian and international literature on mental health and suicide in the armed forces, and to bring this together with the most recent developments from within general literature on mental health, suicide and wellbeing. Most notably it integrates the rapidly advancing developments within generic mental health literature on strength-based and wellbeing oriented approaches, which despite being highlighted as a key feature of future reform for veteran mental health and suicide(2, 4), is relatively absent within its research. This focus on leveraging strengths and working on deficits is particularly important when highlighting the mental health benefits of an organisation such as DRA, as will become clear within the sections below. The result is a multi-facetted argumentation and subsequent model for the potential benefits that DRA can have on veterans, their mental health and suicide risk, the way they seek help, and the wider utility they have for society.

The complexity of mental health, wellbeing and suicide

Research on wellbeing, mental health and suicide is becoming increasingly sophisticated, empirically demonstrating that the way we feel on a day-today basis is the result of a highly complex interplay of variables from within and around an individual(31). This trend towards embracing complexity is occurring in various separate streams in mental health research, highlighting the importance of viewing mental health and its drivers in all its complexity if 1) we wish to better our understanding of what causes poor mental health and 2) are to come up with effective ways to drive down the prevalence of illness, which has failed to go down globally despite increased investment (32, 33).

For example, research that compares 1) established theories of suicide behaviour used within veteran and generic suicide research (which aim to explain how suicide occurs by looking at a relatively small set of causes) and their ability to predict suicide ideation and behaviours, with 2) new machine learning theories of suicide (which by analysing large numbers of complex interrelated variables aim to predict when suicide occurs) show vastly superior predictive power for the latter models (34). While both models serve distinct purposes, it highlights how our behaviours are better predicted when we incorporate more rather than less complex patterns of interactions. In other words, research cautions against unnecessarily simplifying the way we think about mental health in DRA, as by doing so we are likely to fail to 1) capture its volunteers' mental health in sufficient detail and 2) determine just how impactful volunteering may be.

This report as such favours embracing more complexity (35), an approach which is validated by the rich findings within its underpinning data (see for chapter 4 to 6 detailing the characteristics of DRA members and their motives for joining the organisation). A principal way to do this is by accepting an expanded view on mental *health (36, 37)*, so that it better represents scientific evidence and lived experience within and outside the military setting, and by doing so making it fall in line with calls for more strength-based (wellnessoriented) approaches to tackling the burden of poor mental health and suicide for veterans (2).

Our mental health is more than (not) having symptoms of illness

Our mental health should be seen as a continuously changing outcome that results from an interplay of a range of experiences, feelings and behaviours. For ease of understanding, these experiences, feelings and behaviours generally fall into two types of states:

- states of pathology generally marked by disorder in a person's behaviour or thinking (38).
- mental wellbeing is a state where we view ourselves and our life positively. It's a deeply personal experience that can involve meaningful connection with others, having a sense of purpose, and feeling optimistic (16).

Contemporary research indicates that these states do not simply operate on extremes of one another. They negatively affect one another, but the symptoms (characteristics) of pathology are not the opposite of those that make up wellbeing (39). You can experience certain aspects of wellbeing (a sense of purpose, positive relationships, optimism, autonomy, self-development etc) with or without the presence of diagnosable illness (e.g. PTSD, anxiety). Put differently, modern views on mental health do not endorse the view that people with, for example PTSD, live their lives without experiencing aspects of wellbeing until they are completely symptom-free (40). Simply comparing some selected symptoms in the table to the right should help make that obvious.

What research shows is that experiencing states of wellbeing is 1) protective of developing illness (41, 42) and 2) can help people in recovery of that illness in the future (43). What this tangibly means is that we should look beyond just investigating *popular* outcomes in mental health research on veterans, first responders and the general public (e.g. PTSD (44)) and that targeting states of wellbeing specifically, not just working on drivers of illness, can be a fruitful mechanism to protect people from developing more serious illness and subsequent behaviours (i.e. suicide behaviours) and aid in its recovery (37, 45).

Table 1

Contrasting core symptoms of PTSD and symptoms of wellbeing.

PTSD: A long-lasting mental health condition that's triggered by experiencing/witnessing a traumatic event		Wellbeing: We view ourselves and our life positively, which is influenced by positive evaluations of (among	
		othe	rs)
•	Self-destructive	•	Meaning
	behaviour, such as		
	drinking too much.		
•	Always being on guard	•	Optimism
	for danger.		
•	Trouble concentrating	•	Autonomy
-	nouble concentrating.		
•	Irritability, angry	•	Positive relationships
	outbursts or		
	aggression.		
•	Trouble sleeping.	•	Calmness
	1 0		

The importance of the above messaging for DRA warrants explicitly stating: it sets the theoretical rationale for why volunteering in DRA can result in mental health benefits via an interplay of connected aspects, which are likely to have an *indirect* effect by promoting wellbeing, which in turn for a subset of people can lay the foundation for combatting illness.

When and why do mental health problem for veterans occur?

Much of the veteran mental health literature focuses on the transitioning veteran, many of whom transition or reintegrate without major problems, while others display immediate challenges during transition or develop challenges long after they have transitioned (6, 7). What is important is that the nature of transitioning does not get conflated with the exact reasons for onset of the problems themselves. Some veterans may have had (a predisposition for) mental health problems before they joined the armed forces and/or would have started developing problems irrespective of having joined in the first place. For example, for some the mental health problems may be largely driven by biological (e.g. genetic) rather than situational causes (e.g. lack of a supportive social environment) (46). For others, the main situational drivers of problems during transition may not lie within the professional sphere, but rather may be in the personal sphere, which happens to coincide with the (stressors of the) transition period (47).

What this tangibly means is that, while transition presents a genuine moment of risk for the veteran – and opportunity to target their mental health -, it may not be the transition per se that drives mental health problems or even suicide. Similarly, for many DRA volunteers (e.g., Vietnam veterans), transitioning out of the military lies well behind them. While some may continue to struggle with the consequences of the war, others may be struggling with poor wellbeing because of developments in their personal life, irrespective of their service.

A different way to put this is that the benefits that volunteering for DRA can have on someone's mental health can occur beyond and independent of veteran transition periods. While the transition period still represents an ideal window for recruitment, it pays to talk more broadly about the general drivers of poor mental health that DRA can prove to be useful for, irrespective of whether one could see DRA as having utility for dealing with transition and reintegration issues.

What are core drivers for poor mental health and ultimately suicide

A plethora of models for mental illness and suicidal behaviour exist - both in the veteran specific literature and in the general literature -, which point to specific antecedents and the ways we can go about mitigating them, which thus help provide insights into the potential mechanisms that underpin DRA's Wellbeing Model (48). Take for example, the 'ideation-to-action' models such as the 3ST model (49)¹. This model - which is based on the interpersonal psychological theory of suicide, stating that suicide ideation is driven by social isolation and feeling a burden to others – indicates that emotional or physical pain combined with isolation and a lack of hope for a good future can start to result in suicide ideation.

This, in highly simplified terms, points to two distinct needs that need to be addressed. Firstly, one needs to deal with emotional or physical *pain*, which generally benefits from therapy, either physical or psychological/psychiatric. While hopelessness and social connection can in part be addressed via therapy, e.g. when it is driven by cognitive distortions, it generally is driven by indicators that are associated with wellbeing, and as such benefit from approaches outside the therapeutic sphere.

Applying this thinking to veterans, therapy can be used to deal with service-related mental health disorders or physical injuries, while at the same time – and to protect against hopelessness reintegration difficulties need to be addressed by targeted services (50). There is for example the need to safeguard the social determinants of health, ranging from 1) providing education, opportunities to connect to 2) ensuring secure housing, a serious problem for some veterans with more significant health problems (8). Although this can be done by dedicated services, e.g. those provided by the Department of Veteran Affairs (DVA), DRA can play a role in contributing positively to a range of wellbeing related areas, including:

- Employment and continuing education: by providing professional development opportunities and training, as well as using volunteering as a recruitment strategy for paid employment.
- Applying military skills to civilian life: disaster relief efforts tap into unique skills that veterans develop, but cannot always meaningfully apply in civilian life.
- Interacting with friends and family: by building a support network and encouraging deployments together with family members.

Towards a focus on personal recovery and capacity building

While many benefit from therapy, everyone benefits from working on areas related to their wellbeing, particularly when we keep in mind that this protects against the development of illness in the first place.

This creates a new narrative when we consider mental health and the way they feel on a day-today basis (37) (51). We shift away from seeing mental health as being synonymous with aiming to get rid of symptoms of illness and seeking help only when one is seriously ill. Rather we adopt a view that is more akin to the way we see our physical

¹ Interpersonal models tend to outperform other classes of models including hopelessness, biological and biosocial theories –

health (36): we get specialised help when we develop symptoms of illness (e.g. cancer, heart problems), while at the same time we work on keeping our bodies healthy (e.g. by focusing on physical health, nutrition, sleep and good personal circumstances to name a few).

As such we shift away from an exclusive focus on symptom reduction, which is called functional recovery. Rather we focus on being able to live a joyful and meaningful life and feel part of a community, with or without mental health problems, referred to as personal recovery (40). This requires the need for a focus on building capacity and tapping into strengths, drawing parallels with literature in areas such as positive psychology (52). It allows us to reframe our mental health as an outcome that can be harnessed outside the clinical sphere by focusing on tangible resources in all our lives. A visual that summarises notable drivers and resources to our wellbeing is provided in figure 3.

The case for indirect service offerings

Shifting the focus to areas related to wellbeing presents a major advantage for services like DRA (53): we can work on improving someone's mental health and reducing their risk of suicide in an indirect and non-threatening way. While most people think of therapy and psychiatrists as the first thing that comes to mind for treating mental health, in essence one can rely on much less direct methods in an informal atmosphere. This can counter well-documented barriers to seeking help via formal channels (54, 55). For example, while qualitative research points to stigma being a potential influence for not seeking help (56), quantitative research is less clear with researchers failing to find a definitive relationship between perceived stigma and help-seeking intentions & behaviours (57) which may be explained as follows: "individuals who are disinclined to seek help are compelled when reaching a crisis point or enabled to seek help by positive facilitators of help-seeking, such as supportive family/friends/unit, to overcome stigma".

What this points to is that, in the right environment and under the right conditions, even people with high levels of negative beliefs towards working on their health, could be convinced to seek or accept help. This makes DRA a potential gateway for future engagement with traditional services, and makes it an interesting vehicle to facilitate informal support itself (58). It is much like peer support groups, which have been used to facilitate better transitions for veterans, but without the overt attention on the need to recover. Rather, by centring the main focus of the mission around helping community and building personal capacity, peer support can be provided in a much less threatening manner (59).

Similarly, revolving the main purpose of the organisation around a social good, whose main activity involves getting people active, makes it particularly interesting for people who do not think they need help or are resistant to the notion of talk therapy, e.g. males who sometimes prefer options that are activity-driven (60). It facilitates positive effects without the organisation revolving around mental health, thereby benefitting the person even if they are not there to gain benefits on their mental health.



Figure 8. Main antecedents to our wellbeing (33), of which various can be related to the benefits that volunteering for DRA can bring to veteran mental health.

Bringing it all together: DRA's Wellbeing Model

The above presented literature review and its argumentation sets the scene for DRA's Wellbeing Model. What it importantly does is provide the rationale for DRA being relevant for:

- people (veteran and non-veteran) who are currently struggling, encouraging recovery by promoting positive antecedents to our mental health; and
- those that are not struggling, by providing a protective effect against future adversity.

The below model aims to visualise the way DRA exerts its positive effects on mental health. It can be summarised in a couple of short paragraphs.

Getting volunteers to do something they like and/or find important to do, where they feel useful and/or appreciated, in their own eyes and/or those of others. This taps into a sense of enjoyment, purpose, (self-)worth, recognition and belonging. Engaging in the act of disaster relief, combined with an accepting community that can positively promote positive aspects of a veteran's identity, thereby by itself can be healing. It can present an important informal complementary lever to combat suicide risk in the future, while at the same time providing a service that is essential to the nation's wellbeing.

Informal supportive conversations and a supportive community that instil trust in volunteers who sometimes have not received much confidence for a while, creates an important motivational environment for self-improvement.

At the same time it offers opportunities to help identify at-risk individuals during its engagement, offering follow-up opportunities and referrals where needed. Its staff – particularly its leaders and the wellbeing team – can help identify struggling people and refer them to more formal mental health services.



Figure 9. DRA Wellbeing Model (also presented in figure 1 of the executive summary) that proposes the mechanisms through which DRA promoted antecedents of wellbeing, which together with monitoring for more serious symptoms can help promote healing and prevent more serious problems from occurring.

Chapter 4. Using qualitative interviews to validate the main components of the wellbeing model.

Part 1: background to the interview participants, their mental health profile and their motives for joining DRA

Why were we covering this?

It is important to understand the background to the interviewees as this will shape the interpretation of the answers they give. The motives to join DRA varied from per person we spoke to, indicating that the potential mechanisms through which DRA can exert a positive influence can differ per volunteer. Mental health experiences and experiences with helpseeking also differ per volunteer, which in turn influences what exact improvements we can expect to see during our study.

Background to participants and their reason for joining DRA

We conducted in-depth interviews with 33 volunteers to develop a detailed understanding of the experiences and motivations of DRA volunteers. We recruited a range of different interviewees, ranging from those that were highly engaged, to people who never ended up deploying and to critical friends, or in other words, the people who may be engaged but have been known to be able to provide constructive criticism to the organisation. We included veterans, first responders and civilians, and aimed to achieve a balance in terms of age and gender composition. Interviewees also represented a number of different DRT's, including NSW, QLD, SA, TAS, VIC and WA.

Many of the interviewees we spoke to joined after the recent and highly publicised natural disasters such as the black summer bush fires in 2020 and the floods following the years after. Volunteers wanted to join DRA because they heard about the negative impact of those disasters on the news - via friends/family but also because they experienced the disasters directly themselves – and wanted to help.

"I kind of kept in contact with a few of the DRA guys [who came to my town after the fires] and then followed the website and everything. And then I thought **** let's join up. I like this former military and emergency services based group."

Another significant proportion of participants seemed to have been recruited into DRA by people they knew and trusted, either directly or via 'rolemodels' within community. They for example followed someone's social media story and connected to their familiar story. They saw something they could relate to and decided to give it a go. For these volunteers, it was often the combination of the sense of familiarity with seeing the 'trusted person' do the activities in DRA that drove them to sign up.

"I tried everything else [to fix my mental health] and it just didn't work, but my mate joined DRA and I went off his recommendation. As soldiers I guess we trust other soldiers more than we do trust advertising. So if someone recommends it, another soldier or something, you go OK. It must be alright."

This important role of peer influence to join up goes both ways, with volunteers who had a positive experience, then going on to invite mates they felt could benefit:

"Yeah [invited him because] I think he has struggled with his own mental health for quite some time and being in a group of similarly minded people will help him. And it will also possibly help him umm reintegrate into the community. Yeah, because he's had an even harder trot than what I had".

Interviewees who were veterans or family of military staff were drawn to the familiarity between DRA and the military, in terms of being veteran-led, the culture they expected to find and the activities they were meant to be doing.

"[I joined] because it was like I said, veteran led and then yeah, just looking at it online, just searching for it and just seeing what they did. I definitely felt within

an instant, almost like oh, like l've been looking for this for, you know, forever."

Veterans talked about trying to find things to do when they left the military -both unemployed and employed veterans - which made them tap into some of the aspects of military that they missed and positively related to.

"And DRA was just such a nice fit for the military camaraderie, you know, the whole structure that I'm used to. But then also the good that it did and the needs that it met for people."

When asked about these 'deeper' motivations such as helping others in need, many indicated an innate need to help the community. They could not indicate "why" this was the case, it just happened. Some are or were always active volunteers trying to help their local communities. This for example was the case for some of the first responders we spoke to who either were drawn to that role because they always wanted to help communities, with some also previously or currently volunteering for other first responder organisations like State Emergency Services (SES)

"So we are actually all volunteers with the state emergency service. And so, yeah, [one of us] deployed and had a fantastic time and said that DRA did really work closely with the community, made a massive difference during the recovery. And then [we] also signed up in the next couple of weeks and have deployed a couple of times since... It's something that we were all looking for."

Background to the mental health of interviewees

Mental health journeys prior to joining DRA

Interviewees were very open about their personal mental health, both in the past and present day. A noticeable two-way split became apparent.

- There were volunteers who had a significant history with mental health problems and were on a journey to healing. These participants were often veterans who were affected by their service, often (but not always) driven by the consequences of accidents or physical injuries during service.
- 2. There were participants who felt well and were simply ready to give something back to community. They did not have a significant history of mental health problems. For some

veteran responders who belonged to this category, they were individuals who did not want to be seen as affected or 'broken' by their service and who generally had largely positive reflections on their own period in the defence force.

The recovering veterans who were medically discharged because of training or combat incidents generally spoke about experiencing the most significant mental health consequences. These interviewees spoke about having been diagnosed with or experiencing PTSD, often with comorbidities, generally being depressive or affective disorders, and or problems related to alcohol and substance use.

"Yeah, my problems were with depression, PTSD and alcohol and substance abuse. All the alcohol and substance abuse was like, dramatic. Back then it was pretty much, yeah, like every day. It really massively impacted me".

Volunteers who were discharged because of medical reasons often spoke about the physical toll that the injury took, and the long recovery period they went through after leaving the military. When asked to reflect about the long-term consequences, participants reflected on the fact that the mental health consequences often outlived the physical health problems, as for example noted by this volunteer:

"Eventually the injuries caught up with me and the PTSD. Yeah, the physical [caused more problems] to start with, but the mental basically outlasted the physical injuries tenfold, unfortunately."

Volunteers with a military background that did not personally experience significant mental health problems tended to indicate they had a generally good experience in the military, except for standard workplace incidents here and there. Some interviewees actively indicated that their transition wasn't a problem at all, particularly when they were quite happy to be ending their period in the military.

"My transition back into the work, back into university life was made pretty easy, yeah. Well, it's just that I had a lot of. Yeah, I got a lot of financial support. So I wasn't struggling."

However, the volunteers who coped well with military life were quick to note the negative impact that service had on some of their colleagues. They were aware of the serious consequences that military service could have, particularly for friends and colleagues who were in accidents or had to go to active conflict zones.

The consequences of problematic mental health significantly affected the behaviour, ability to function and conduct of some of the recovering volunteers. Some have had to go into inpatient treatment on several occasions throughout their life, including some volunteers that we interviewed while they just came back from or were about to go back into inpatient care.

A theme that came through related to the contrast in cultural differences between the defence force and the civilian world. Behaviour that was encouraged or tolerated in the defence force led to problems for volunteers after transition, mainly related to violence, general conduct in social circumstances and the use of alcohol and substances. While the people who discussed these issues indicated they were able to get on top of it after a while, claiming they didn't engage in these behaviours anymore, even lower grade manifestations of this behaviour is problematic and may at times represent a potential cultural risk factor for DRA that should be monitored.

"I basically hid away for about five or six years. Basically all I did was take the kids to school in the morning, come home and sleep, wake up till 2:30, pick the kids up again, get them dinner, go back to sleep. But I think I needed that back then because I was angry. Like if I did go out and I ran into confrontation or whatever, it resulted in violence."

While most of the interviewees with more serious mental health history were veterans, past and current mental health problems also applied to non-veterans, as this first responder indicated.

"I think there's a there's a handful of diagnosis that have been thrown around from GP to GP...PTSD, anxiety, Depression."

Help-seeking behaviour of the volunteers

Somewhat surprising, most of the members we spoke to did not have a problem with using professional services, which aligns with the findings from the quarterly surveys. Those that had not sought help indicated they did not do so (early enough) because they did not realise they had problems that warranted seeking professional help.

"I never thought I had a problem. I was in the army with [a friend]and he was an advocate and he told me to put a claim in and this is about 1997 and then it went from there and then [they] sent me to their own doctor and it was a psychiatrist that he told me I had PTSD."

For some however, there were trust issues when it came to mental health service provision, both in terms of not knowing if they could trust therapists, but also in terms of not trusting that the process of therapy in general would help.

"The only resistance is, I've had past psych's [in the army]. And you know, I remember going there and like being open once, and all of a sudden, he was like, I have to report this to your chain command and all of a sudden, I'm just like oh ****, I can't even tell you anything."

Less resistance seemed to exist to the notion of taking medications, as this was normalised within the defence force.

"[In the military] you'll get a task, and you go and do it, and then when I did think, OK, I need professional help, it was that same mentality of, OK, I'm gonna do this 100% and I'm gonna get better. So I'll go to a psychiatrist. I'll take their tablets and I'll be better. And when that didn't happen, then you get disheartened and say this is ****. And you go back into that [negative] spiral. What they don't explain in the military or when you get out is that it's a holistic approach. So it's not just medicine, it's physical exercise. It's all these things. Where all you hear is when we're in the military, you go the doctor, he gives you tablet so you get better. And that's what you're expecting with your head as well."

Out of the participants that did seek help, some were able to get on top of their challenges as the help they received made a real difference. They often had to try different methods before they made real strides, which came with a realisation that mental health treatment should be seen as a journey, rather than something you can treat in one go. Effective treatment often was attributed to people finding a good psychologist or psychiatrist that they trusted and had a good relationship with.

"So I've been seeing a psychiatrist for, many years now. Uh, and it's kind of helped. And then at the same time I've been seeing psychologists like, on and off. And yeah, engaged in like [Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation] as well. Yeah, actually yeah, I rate it."

Others saw limitations within the format of mainstream service delivery, particularly the general format of therapy in which reflection and conversation was the main form of trying to help the veteran. When volunteers spoke about the utility of this difference, they tended to refer to it benefitting males specifically.

"if you look at the way men do things, it's often they do things together, but not, you know [just talk to each other]. Like they'll go and play golf and they'll talk on the golf course.

Part 2. The nature of DRA as the breeding ground for healing and wellbeing.

Why are we covering this?

We wanted to explore the general aspects of volunteering for DRA that drew DRA volunteers to become members. These are not the unique activities and volunteer behaviours that lead to improved wellbeing (they are covered in part 3), but rather are the reasons for drawing volunteers into the organisation.

The important impact of deployments: getting benefits from giving back

The profound impact that going on deployments had on the lives of the interviewees could be noted, sometimes making participants visibly emotional. A key theme that came through revolved around the notion of providing hope for people during their darkest hours.

"[When we go into a property] we do a bit of work and then they see that it's possible that they can get back over time. They're in that sort of depressive state where they're just sitting back, and they don't know where to start. And it all just seems too much for them. So to get a couple little projects started and finished with their assistance and involving them, that just sort of motivates them that it is possible we can sort of get back on our feet sort of thing." In this, an interesting parallel lies. Providing a notion of hope, by starting small and letting people see a path to growth, is analogous for the value proposition that DRA offers for a subset of members, as comes through in the interviews. Many volunteers independently talked about the transformative effect of giving people a place to start, so they could see light at the end of the tunnel.

"the first job we used to do was clean what the residents could see outside their kitchen window, because when they get up in the morning, they go turn the kettle on. They look outside while they're waiting for the kettle, and if it's looking **** out there, their day gets off to a bad start. If you do a little bit of cleaning up and it looks a little bit better, it's a little bit of a better start."

This impact was generally connected to being on 'strike teams' that directly go into the communities, with most members saying that these experiences were the most impactful on their own wellbeing.

"[On a strike team] It's more rewarding. Yeah, using your body more and you actually have the contact with the homeowners and you're there, you know, from start to finish. So you're able to see what they're like when you first walk up, and then once you've helped them for, you know, half a day or a day. How much they've changed and you've improved their wellbeing."

The impact goes beyond simply helping people fix their properties. Volunteers could also see how their personal interactions provided an opportunity for emotional support to people affected by disaster.

"This elderly farmer, all he wanted was some fence post put back in so he could get his cattle in and whilst a few of us were out there doing the heavy lifting, our strike team leader was up at the house, having a cup of tea with him and having a deep and meaningful and he absolutely appreciated it."

Some volunteers spoke about the connection that DRA had with the community members. As the organisation is not 1) government or 2) faithbased, it meant that communities seemed less hesitant to interact with them. Volunteers felt that in general, having DRA be seen as a veteran-led organisation, was a good thing in Australia, as people generally respect veterans, which

translated in them feeling valued as a part of society as well.

"I'm impressed with the goodwill that [the community] attaches to the brand. SES don't have that goodwill as much as DRA do. So it makes it easy when you rock up to a job and when they see that you are DRA, they say oh come in. When we are on our deployments we become very much a part of that Community you know. That feels good."

What was interesting was that some people realised volunteering made them feel good, which made them experience a low-level guilt or shame.

"In fact, I felt a bit guilty sometimes because I got such a sense of, you know, achievement and a sense of, you know, good from it, that I felt guilty because I was out there to give."

While many interviewees had a sense of reluctance or hesitation when asked about the benefits they received, when pressed most could clearly see the benefits that volunteering for DRA brings them. They recognised the impact that volunteering had on their wellbeing and ultimately were ok with experiencing this benefit knowing they did good work.

"You know, as I said, I always feel really good after being on a DRA deployment and that that's why I say to others, yeah, I'll get more out of it than I've really put into it."

The benefits of an environment that brings veterans together with first responders and civilians.

All veterans we spoke to generally had a positive opinion about the recruitment of non-veterans into DRA. The most important part interviewees spoke about was a shared purpose and feeling like everyone is on board with the wider DRA culture.

"I don't feel this need to be drawn to someone just because they're a veteran. It's more who they are, what they do and what their beliefs are. Whether they work in a way that I like, in that kind of thing. but having said that, I love the military type, structure and organisation and things like that."

Interviewees were very aware that DRA has a specific culture, which is not a culture that is suited to everyone.

"[Volunteers] need to try to kind of embrace some of the good parts of the military culture [in DRA} which does come with a bit of a blokey and non PC-Ness to us".

Some were worried that bringing in more civilians (not so much first responders) could potentially erode the positive aspects of the culture. Others preferred to find parallels with non-veterans, focusing on similarities rather than differences.

"I'll talk about [my experiences with] service and it's all relevant and similar to the emergency service guys. Honestly Ambos and firies, they, they have similar stories. I can bounce off each them just as well as how I can bounce off the army and Air Force guys."

One volunteer affirmed just how important the mix with civilians was from a re-integration perspective. It facilitates a softer entry into the civilian world as the majority of DRA volunteers are veterans, with a few open minded civilians around them. Volunteers reported this unique combination results in a group in people who are open to hearing the experiences of veterans, that they often feel they cannot share outside any services friends or family they may know.

It is mainly veterans and a few civilians of different places. You know, they [veterans] can come with all their quirks and all their things and these impossible stories that they can't really talk about. But you can at DRA. Like some of the stories they talk about, things they've done and they're still accepted. That these civilians can sit along next to them, listen to them and still just treat them exactly the same as they treat others. You know, I think that is a really good experience as well.

Ability to deploy with family and loved ones

An interesting avenue that DRA offers is the ability to deploy with family together. Although this was not done by most interviewees, those that did deploy together with family, noted that it was a positive experience.

"My sister lives [interstate], so it's a good way for us to stay connected and to catch up with each other and you know, sort of do what we both love doing and that's, you know, helping the community.

By providing the opportunity to deploy together, volunteers can develop new insights into what

family members are going through. This helps civilians with no background in the military develop a better understanding of what their family member is going through, while at the same time reaping the mental health rewards they themselves get from volunteering.

"I got to see my son in a different light. Seeing him in action during a deployment filled me with pride."

Part 3. The concrete benefits of the core activities and behaviours that come with volunteering for DRA

Why are we covering this?

The below sections outline the impact of the five specific activities and behaviours volunteers experience at DRA, captured under level 1 within the DRA Wellbeing Model.

Active volunteering: goal-directed physical nature of the work

Volunteers indicated that the goal directed nature of the volunteering was attractive to them. It meant that they were physically active and out and about. They were outdoors and connected to nature. Some even said that they specifically chose DRA because it was volunteering that involved some physicality.

"It also ticks the boxes in that it was a physical thing that you're out there doing something physical, not just, and I don't mean this to be derogatory, but I just didn't wanna pour cups of tea for old people. I wanted to be out there doing something physical because I'm fit and healthy."

The fact that the work is activity driven, where people rallied around a common purpose by being active was attractive to many. Volunteers realised it 'activated' them, rather than sometimes staying in personal circumstances that weren't always good or overly stimulating for their mental health.

"I think especially at my age and you know, being single, living alone, you can drift into depression and then alcohol abuse and whatever you know. So I think the good thing about DRA is, is it gives me a purpose, yeah. DRA have got me out of my depression and anxiety to a degree... The first I went down [to a new deployment] just after [I finished treatment for a physical health condition], I still felt pretty down because of it and by the end of it, I was feeling really on top of the world."

<u>Connection: a culture of comradery, acceptance</u> <u>and giving people confidence</u>

Irrespective of whether volunteers struggled with mental health or not, the comradery within DRA was a major drawcard for people. DRA allowed people to make strong friendships, with personal relationships being a big driver for any wellbeing impacts. A major positive is the fact that DRA allows people who want to deploy together to do so. This lowers the threshold for many to engage as they get to volunteer with people they like.

"It seems like a small thing, but it's actually a big thing, because if you're going away with people that you know and I know others do it with you know, people they've met on other operations, it's a way to stay connected to people."

A core theme that stood out was the culture of acceptance and trust as part of DRA. While there are definite areas of potential challenges - see the section on "areas to monitor and investigate" below - those who said they experienced the biggest mental health benefits almost all made a reference to the importance of the accepting culture. A common reflection interviewees made revolved around feeling like they could be themselves. For some this was a feeling they hadn't experienced for a while

"You can be yourself in front of them. So our same sense of humour and mucking around and work ethic. if I go out with my wife to see her friends, I have to very much watch what I say and stuff like that."

The importance of this cannot be glanced over for the most vulnerable, for those with low self-worth. Entering a culture where people put faith in someone irrespective of where they have come from can have great healing properties for those people.

"They gave the confidence in [taking up a leadership role] in like my first ever deployment. it was a bit uncomfortable, just like jumping into the deep end. Definitely without the support [of leadership] I would not have thought about it... it made me find my worth again. Getting that confidence up. So yeah, it's like it

was a big phase shift back into a positive, yeah, positive person."

At the same time, this positive culture of acceptance benefits even those who do not have issues with mental illness. Positive relationships are a cornerstone to mental wellbeing and act as a protective buffer against more serious issues. Positive relationships also make any activity more fun, ensuring that volunteers continue to come back to DRA.

DRA leadership has played an enormously positive role in developing this culture of acceptance, which needs to be commended. Interviewees speak very highly of leadership and the way they go about engaging their volunteers.

"Yeah, they don't talk down to you. They involve you in decisions...they take everybody's opinion into account 1st and then make the decision, so it's quite easy to own the decision even if you sometimes are a bit sceptical".

Throughout the interviews – and therefore mentioned throughout this chapter - it became clear that DRA offers a positive environment for males who may be struggling with their mental health. This was mentioned by a multitude of interviewees, with most focusing their answers on male veterans. Interviewees spoke about the positive impact the volunteering experience had for themselves, which they were eager to pass on to others:

"I know if I don't keep volunteering and don't keep going to that, I won't be in a good headspace. It's my medication basically... So I try to tell younger guys to see volunteering as their medication."

They spoke about the influence that modelling by males with a veteran background had on them. By seeing others be open about their own experience with trauma, they felt they had the opportunity to open up themselves in an informal atmosphere, which sometimes felt like a better fit compared to more traditional forms of opening up (e.g. therapy).

Similarly, interviewees spoke about the support they provided themselves, when they knew people needed a bit of help: "We're supportive... one of the deployments I was on, one of the young guys ... you know, he had a drink problem, so I would be with him in the evenings and help him not to drink."

<u>Recognition: experiences that boost self-respect</u> and support positive reframing of past <u>experiences</u>

DRA provided a clear restorative effect for some volunteers. Allowing people to reframe their own look on life.

"It gives you such perspective of the human condition. To see it and smell it and experience it and feel it on the ground with people who are also so willing to share their experiences. Umm it just changes your perspective on things and you I think just recalibrate your view of the world to be a more positive one where you are."

This restorative effect was most profound for the veterans we spoke to, particularly those who had a more problematic relationship with their military past, both older and younger volunteers. Some volunteers had serious self-worth issues, which started when they transitioned. Older volunteers, particularly those who served before 2000 talked about feeling the need to hide their military identity.

"I think they experience a level of... not quite moral injury, but moral bruising where there is an aspect of shame in their service."

"Well, we're talking about 1971 and it was pretty hostile environment in, in, in Australia at that time because they all opposed to the war, and I think that's what a lot of lot of Vietnam Veterans would tell you. It mostly worse than the war. And so, yeah, a lot of us just kept it to ourselves for a long time."

While for some embracing a sense of pride in their military past was a longer term process, others directly talked about how volunteering for DRA gave them a positive sense of connection back to their military past.

"It took a while, but I finally started wearing my uniform with pride again"

The appreciation by community when volunteers would come and help, aided in this revived sense of identity. Volunteers felt they were appreciated as veterans, not just as people who came and helped.

"{After my deployment] I was exhausted and on painkillers. I went home and cried. It was the first time I felt I fitted in again."

<u>Personal Development: training and</u> credentialling as a foundation for future wellbeing

The most tangible benefit that DRA provides its volunteers is the provision of training (e.g. courses on handling chainsaws, trailers or even flying drones), thereby allowing volunteers to upskill themselves. This not only contributes to a perception of self-development, it also directly makes volunteers more job-ready. While this only applies to subset of more vulnerable volunteers, the impact of getting volunteers to become more job-ready is profound.

"So I mean, this year that part of my life [gaining employment which he attributes to DRA upskilling] kind of lined up. It was almost like: if I didn't sign up, my life would have gone a different way. But the trajectory you know, hasn't gone sideways. It has pretty much gone up... getting all the skills and experience just from the volunteering and then now I'm working on getting a whole new range of skill sets now that I'm working again. Uh, see, the easiest way I can put it is probably DRA saved my life. that's how I feel for sure."

This makes some of the formal training and accreditation a pivotal component of contributing to good wellbeing. While this may not lead to immediate effects and as previously stated does not apply to every volunteer, it provides avenues to build an absolute vital determinant of our mental health, i.e. financial security via work.

<u>Supportive conversations: Informal opportunities</u> to get volunteers to open up.

Interviewees generally had a lot of good stuff to say about how wellbeing is treated in DRA. For

example, daily reflections on deployments encourages open sharing of joint experiences and can open up a gateway to deeper conversations.

The organisation takes the topic seriously and has built in a number of safeguards to ensure people who need a bit more support are picked up along the way. There are wellbeing check-in phone calls that occur after each deployment and while not everyone is always super keen to take the call, people realise why they are needed.

Volunteers positively talked about the highly open culture to talk about issues in the open. This was different to other veteran organisations where discussing problems in the open was not standard.

"It's helping those people that have quite bad PTSD to get together and have a chat. It's not frowned upon like in some other places they might go. Whereas in DRA [taking our mental health problems into account] is basically brought up at every single course that we do, like: "if you have PTSD, if it hits a nerve, let us know and we'll reassess."

Various interviewees also note the role that the wellbeing team plays during deployments, noting that they were very aware that they were around in case someone needed any further assistance.

The strong focus on wellbeing however does bring some tension, where some volunteers expect the service offering to go beyond an informal pathway to help someone's mental health and wellbeing. The role for DRA is not (and should not be) to replace a formal therapeutic environment, which volunteers should continue to be made aware of.

"I think that the messaging can quite get can get quite muddled as a lot of people think DRA should be doing certain things better in regard to mental health and wellbeing for veterans."

Part 4. Areas to monitor and investigate.

Why are we covering this?

While most of the conversations spoke to positives for DRA, various themes popped up that might present challenges for the wellbeing of some volunteers in certain circumstances.

There are several themes that popped up during the interviews that can affect the impact that volunteering with DRA has on mental health and wellbeing. Although an-depth coverage of these factors is beyond the scope of this report, the following areas deserve a mention:

- The pre- and post-deployment period can add some stress to participants, e.g. those that have families or those who need to travel a lot, which can affect the way people feel as a result of going on deployment.
- The circumstances of the disaster relief effort may impact volunteers, e.g. if they have gone through a similar disaster.
- In some conversations topics in relation to organisational culture were discussed, which may impact member wellbeing, e.g. interactions between military and civilian members, gender equity and the rapid rate of expansion within the organisation.

"[Going on deployment] does put pressure on the families and stuff like that, so they know I'm going away.... It's double edged, but ultimately, they know if I don't keep volunteering and don't keep going to that, I won't be in a good headspace".

As mentioned, detailed recommendations on these cultural aspects lie beyond the scope of this report. We will work together with DRA to determine the need for a dedicated scope of work that captures some of these potential challenges, as well as any recommendations based on the results of the interviews, focusing particularly on any areas the interviewees recommended DRA could look into.

Chapter 5. Participant characteristics and information on recruitment and engagement



Across the duration of the project, we engaged with hundreds of DRA volunteers. After cleaning the data, a total of 786 unique individuals contributed to the study. Below we provide insight into key characteristics of the study sample, focusing on those characteristics that can be used as potential 'variables' in the analysis.

Participant characteristics

Gender: 541 (68.8%) identified as male, 237 identified as female (30.2%), with the remainder identifying as another response category (1.0%).



Age: The average age was 51.6 (SD = 13.1) with the youngest volunteer being 19 years of age and the oldest being 79 years of age. A breakdown per age bracket can be seen in the figure below. Active Military

- VeteransFamily of veterans
- Civilian only

First responder:

a total of 144 participants (18.3%) were first responders, with another 59 (7.5%) being former first responders. Out of the active first responders, 21 were part of ambulance services, 80 were fire fighters and 43 were police. Veteran or military status: 399 participants were veteran (50.8%) with 65 participants being active military (8.3%) and the remainder being civilian (40.9%). This brings the combined group of participants who were ever in the military to 464 participants (59.0%).



Family of military: 100 participants were family of someone in the armed forces or a veteran (12.7%). Three of these participants also indicated that they were a veteran or military member themselves.

DRT: members from each of the DRT's provided data, with NSW and Queensland being the largest contributors.



Level of involvement with DRA

The 786 participants are part of a larger population of volunteers. The last DRA contact list we received (which includes anyone ever engaged with DRA, active & inactive) included exactly 3000 volunteers, meaning that 26.2% contributed to the study. It is important to interrogate the level of engagement of the volunteers who responded, as this serves to identify 'control' participants, and can also point us to potential variables of interest we would want to include in the analysis.

Deployment engagement: the average all-time number of deployments for participants was 3.9 (sd=6.2). Most participants however never deployed (34.2%) with the majority only deploying once or twice (15.1% and 12.2% respectively). This means that we can better use the median (which is 2) to indicate the mid-point of our dataset. The start difference in activity behaviour between members highlights it as a variable of interest for our analyses.



Figure 10. Distribution of number of deployments per participant

Group 1: The 'active deployers'

One of the aspects that makes this study slightly unique is that volunteers determine their own involvement in deployments. This means that volunteers deploy randomly throughout the study period, some more than others. We had a total of 189 volunteers who participated in a deployment during the study. We were able to land on a rough estimate of when most deployment activity took place.

Table 2.

Number of deployments completed immediately before and during the study. M denotes months.

0	,	
Timeframe	Participants	Percentage
3m before baseline	105	14.3%
Bl to 3m	150	20.5%
3m to 6m	144	19.6%
6m to 9m	130	17.7%
10m to 12m.	67	9.1%

Most volunteers (55%) only deployed during one of the measurement periods, with 27% deploying in two periods, 12% in three periods and finally 6% deploying across all four measurement periods. This difference in 'activity level' during the study makes this a variable of interest.

Group 2: The 'non-deployers':

One third of the sample (254 members) has never deployed and could thus be seen as a control group. They may be new members who have not had a chance to deploy, but they are also older members, who for one reason or the other simply never deployed, but still feel 'connected' to DRA, as they contributed data for at least one timepoint. Simply treating data from these members in the vein as 'active deployers' would however be misleading, considering many volunteers in the dataset are not recently active. This may happen for a variety of reasons (e.g. timing of deployments doesn't work, their current work/life situation doesn't facilitate easy deployment, they needed a break from deploying etc). In addition to new members who had not deployed, we considered older member who did not deploy for at least two years to be 'inactive'. The data from these two groups make up the DRA control group used across the study².

We will contrast the results from the 'active deployers' with the 'non-deployers' throughout this study. The first group may sometimes be abbreviated as the 'active' group and the second group the 'DRA control' group. A third group, the 'population control' group is used to provide insight into how all DRA volunteers may differ compared people who are not attracted to DRA. A description of this group and how it differs from DRA on demographics is provided in the next section.

² We conducted analysis on various outcomes at baseline and over time, showing similar results, validating combining both groups.

Recruitment and participant engagement throughout the

study

Out of the 786 participants with data entered at one stage in the study, 733 participants contributed valid data to at least one of the quarterly measurements. The remaining participants contributed data to the deployment studies only.

What data could be used?

Not all data from the 733 participants could be used in the study. To create a meaningful difference between the 'active' and 'inactive' group, we needed to exclude the responses from people who were continuously active before the study. After cleaning of the data the response for a

Table 3.

..... 1. . . . total of 629 participants could be used. Insight into how many timepoints participants contributed to is mentioned here:

- 5 measures: 145 participant _
- 4 measures: 74
- 3 measures: 101
- 2 measures: 131
- 1 measure: 178

This clearly shows that the number of people with complete data is affected by drop-out. This is one of the reasons why we 1) use "mixed models" to complement the completer-analysis and 2) add imputation to model what responses would look like without the loss of data.

Overall though, the study has exceeded the reach and engagement targets we set at the beginning of the project, see table below.

Reach and	Expected study sample	Total sample	% of needed sample
engagement KPI	size		
170	80 Active male military and veterans	420 Active male military and veterans (92 active military & 328 veterans)	525% (247% of KPI)
40	20 male First responders	114 male First responders	570% (285% of KPI)
15	15 male family members	40 male family members	267% (267% of KPI)

Chapter 6. What does the average mental health and wellbeing of DRA volunteers look like?

How did we assess this?

We have asked all respondents to answer a range of mental health outcomes, allowing us to get insight into their basic mental health profile at the start of the study. The exact outcomes are provided in the 'methods' section. In addition, we asked participants questions related to their past mental health status and any engagement they have had with mental health services.

Prior diagnosis and service use

Firstly, we will delve into whether respondents ever sought help by getting a diagnosis and subsequently what services they interacted with.

- Officially diagnosed: 19.5% of participants indicate they were officially diagnosed with a mental health condition. Diagnoses were varied, although most were diagnosed with PTSD, depression and/or anxiety.
- Help-seeking: A higher number of respondents (56.3%) sought help for their mental health. Most sought help from GP's, psychologists or counsellors, or psychiatrists. Other initiatives like Open Arms were less frequently mentioned.
- Self-help or alternative services: A substantial number of DRA volunteers also actively engage in seeking help outside of formal health services. Services were varied ranging from websites and apps, yoga and meditation, and engaging in physical activity to help manage their mental health.

Current state of mental health

Although the above information indicates that only around 1 in 5 respondents have been formally diagnosed with a mental health condition, which is in line with contemporary estimates in general society (61), our data shows that the number of volunteers with mental health scores that warrant engaging with mental health services based on their current mental health status is higher.

Baseline presence of distress, depression or anxiety

At baseline, a total of 29.4% of respondents had distress, suicide risk, depression or anxiety scores

that met or surpassed risk cut-offs on the measures we used. This means that they displayed at minimum scores that indicate mild active distress or point to the presence of clinical symptoms of depression and anxiety. Roughly 38.0% only met the threshold for one of the criteria, with the rest scoring above the cut-off for more than one outcome.

Current or future risk of mental health problems

As mental health is more than simply the absence of mental illness, we need to expand our view beyond pathology and include poor performance on mental wellbeing and resilience measures. This is important as poor performance on these positive mental health measures is linked to a higher risk of mental illness in the future (41, 42).



Figure 11. Number of participants which met official cutoffs (dark blue parts of the graph) on the scientific questionnaires we used to indicate they show current symptoms of mental illness (left), showed risk on the suicide screener (middle) or met a risk cut-off on any of the measures we used (right).

Are demographic variables influencing differences in baseline mental health?

Gender effects: There were no significant differences found on any of the baseline mental health indicators for males versus female volunteers at DRA. As there are no differences, this report will detail results for the entire sample, as the inclusion of females in the sample increases its size and therefore the predictive power of our analyses.

Age effects: There were clear significant age differences that could be noted across the sample. Across all the outcomes, the participants who ranged between 65-80 years old significantly differed from the rest of the sample. As for examples the graphs below on "presence of Meaning" and "Distress" show, volunteers in the oldest age bracket, who are likely in retirement, are on average in a better mental position.



Figure 12. Average scores for 'presence of meaning' and 'distress' per age bracket. Higher scores for meaning are positive, while lower scores for distress are positive.

How do DRA volunteers compare to the general population at baseline

Demographics in the general population control group

The general population control group acts as a naturalistic comparison in this study and acts as a reference group. The control group is taken from an ongoing 'rolling' study on mental health and wellbeing called the Wellbeing Over Time (WOT) study. There are significant differences between the general population control group and DRA when it comes to its composition.

- The DRA sample on average is significantly older, 51.6 (sd = 13.0) versus 44.5 (sd=14.0). As older age is related to higher wellbeing, this will have to be corrected for when we present results with the control group.
- There are more females in the control sample. As there are no large gender differences in the samples we tested, this variable will <u>not</u> be corrected for when comparing the total DRA sample and the control group.

General differences with the control group at baseline

When we compare DRA volunteers with the general population controls, there is a significant difference across all outcomes except for loneliness. After controlling for the above mentioned age differences in group – as older age is related to better mental health scores – these significant differences are maintained for most outcomes except optimism, F(8, 1354) = 19.1, p < .001; Wilks' $\Lambda = .90$; partial $\eta 2 = .10$.

Particularly, DRA volunteers:

- Have higher mental wellbeing
- Have higher resilience
- Are searching for meaning more
- Have lower levels of distress, anxiety, depression and stress levels

Volunteers within the control group.

One potential explanation for the found mental health differences lies in the fact that DRA is a volunteer organisation. As volunteering is associated with better mental health, it may be a general lack of volunteers in the control group drives the mental health scores down.

A subset of WOT-study participants (n=641) answered a question on their volunteering status: 41.8% never volunteered, 37.0% volunteered in the past and 21.2% were current volunteers. When comparing the baseline scores for this subgroup (current volunteers) to the DRA volunteers, we see that volunteers in the control group score better on several mental health indicators compared to those who do not volunteer, showing general support for the notion that volunteering in general relates to higher wellbeing, F(24, 3950.8) = 7.5, p < .001; Wilks' $\Lambda = .88$; partial $\eta 2 = .04$.

Interestingly, there were no significant differences in scores between current volunteers and people who volunteered in the past across outcomes. For example, as the figure below shows, optimism is significantly higher for anyone who volunteers, both currently and in the past. This suggests that any differences in mental health outcomes may not *simply* be related to the act of volunteering but is also influenced by the characteristics of the type of person that is drawn to start volunteering in the first place.



Figure 13. Average scores for optimism split for control group participants who never volunteers, volunteered in the past, are current volunteers and the combined DRA cohort.

Some observations of interest include:

- that DRA volunteers scored significantly higher wellbeing compared to all volunteer sub-groups of the WOT-group.
- that DRA volunteers had lower levels of depression and anxiety compared to prior volunteers, as well as higher resilience.
- That DRA volunteers show that they continue to search for meaning in their life at a higher rate than the control group sample.

Chapter 7. Long-term impact – responses from survey

How did we collect this data?

We embedded several questions into the Baseline and 6-month surveys. We asked simple questions and provided the opportunity for participants to add comments and context to their answers.

What impact has volunteering with DRA had on your mental health specifically?



Three quarters of respondents said that DRA had a positive or very positive effect on their mental health. Most (23%) who indicated 'no impact' had yet to fully participate or engage with DRA.

Many participants wrote "As above" when asked to provided context indicating that for many the general benefit that they gained from DRA was related to their mental health.

Quotes

"[Volunteering at DRA] keeps me grounded & thankful for what I have in my life."

"I was lost before I found DRA. DRA gave me people to aspire to, and a community built on positivity and service to something bigger than myself. Here I can make a real difference to both the people we help, and the people with whom I serve. In short, serving in DRA turned my life around and gave me and my family back a future. I don't think I could have got there myself. They trusted me and it was by doing, and being trusted to make decisions, that I regained my self-confidence."

"Listening to other people's experiences and shared perspectives and perceptions grounded me and gave me other strategies for dealing with stressful incidents and grieving processes. It gave me a sense of not being alone via the company of people that "get it" with no judgement."

What impact has volunteering with DRA had on your life in general?



Over 80% of surveyed DRA members reported that volunteering had a positive or very positive effect on them in general. Out of the people who provided neutral responses, the majority (16%) had not yet had the opportunity to be deployed and/or had just started as a volunteer.

When asked to provide context, the answers generally could be traced back to the key drivers outlined in the DRA Wellbeing Model in chapter 3.

- DRA facilitates meeting great people, often with shared experiences.
- It allows them to help others who experience hardship, building a sense of community.
- It increased their self-worth, so they felt they had something to offer people, feeling useful, and using their skills and expertise for good.
- It made them be part of something greater than themselves, providing a sense of purpose.
- It was a rewarding and fulfilling experience.

Quotes

"Volunteering gave me a renewed purpose following retirement."

"[Volunteering at DRA] has given me camaraderie, sense of purpose, structure, toe dipped back into military humour, new friends and a feeling of satisfaction helping communities, outward appreciation from victims and sense of belonging."

"Volunteering specifically has had a positive effect because it has given me the opportunity to help people who really needed some support and show them that people do care, that knowledge that people do care, to the point that they will give up their time and come out and help. [This] can have a profound impact on the psyche of a disaster affected person. Seeing this has bolstered my faith in people, made me feel connected to communities and appreciated for my skills and values."

Do you feel service with DRA has helped you during or after your transition into civilian life?



Around half of the respondents indicated that volunteering at DRA resulted in a more positive transition and reintegration process. Many of the No's and Not Sures said that they had already transitioned before joining DRA – so there was a disconnect between transition and participation in DRA.

Some indicated that DRA did not help transition because their transition was already smooth. This was independent from their enjoyment -i.e. this group enjoyed DRA and reported a very positive impact.

The main themes for the free-text responses indicates that people reported feeling like they could fit in (which was difficult in civilian life), reconnected to a sense of mateship that they hadn't felt since serving, and are using skills they worked hard to develop (and may have been going to waste).

Quotes

"I spent a career protecting the community for a career and a wage. Now I serve the community in need for free - it's very satisfying!"

"Deploying with DRA makes me feel like I'm making a valuable contribution much like when I served in the military. Likewise, I feel like I work well as part of a team when deployed with DRA, we all have a common purpose and repeat each other."

"It's reminded me I am a veteran and the special camaraderie that being part of the veteran community brings. It's a great role model to hold up to my children."

Have you ever deployed with a family member and how was this experience?

A subset of volunteers who participated in the research had experience deploying with their family members.

Respondents spoke about how deploying together helped them form stronger bonds and relationships and develop insights into one another that they felt they didn't have without doing so.

Quotes

"I've deployed with my son, and it's bought us closer, I'm proud to see him volunteer his time and it's great to see how respected he is by others "

"It allowed us to have shared experiences. My partner got to see all the best bits of the military, the teamwork and mateship, good leadership and purpose. It bridges a major gap between us and gave us some shared experiences that brought us closer together."

"I've worked with my eldest daughter who has only seen my career from a distance. It showed her my empathy for those in need."

"It was a service weekend with my son. He learnt skills, we had lots of intimate conversations and even now, that time will come up now and then."

"I have deployed many times with my sister. We are both retired and live in different cities, and we love to catch up while on deployment. She is a veteran and I appreciate her service and that of other veterans that we deploy with."

"Similar goals and endeavour help bring us closer together and the shared experiences opens up discussion that couldn't happen if only one of us experienced them."

Chapter 8. Immediate impact on mental health

How did we assess this?

We used a technique called "daily-diary" or "ecological momentary assessment" (62) to determine the immediate impact that participating in disaster relief volunteering has on volunteer mental health. In brief: this method relies on participants rating their mental health using short *daily* questionnaires that capture someone's experience in the moment, across the entire duration of the deployment. This is different from traditional survey methods, which generally rely on people thinking back over a longer period, e.g. 2 weeks or a month, which can introduce potential issues such as 'recall bias'. We grouped these daily scores into stages:

- **Pre-deployment:** three days of measurement before people go on deployment to establish their baseline.
- **Early deployment:** two days at the beginning of the deployment.
- Mid deployment: two days in the middle of the deployment.
- End of deployment: three days at the end of the deployment.
- **Post-deployment:** three days after arriving home from deployment.

We then ran analyses focussing on comparing scores before people went on deployment with those at the end of deployments and after they finished.

What did we expect to find?

We expected to find a specific response pattern based on 1) anecdotal evidence from DRA and prior research studies into DRA, e.g. a report produced by Military and Emergency Services Health Australia (MESHA) (21) and 2) preliminary results from our pilot study. We were expecting that:

 Mental health was the lowest just prior to going on deployment, e.g. because of the stress that leaving one's house may bring and the stresses associated with everyday life.

- A steady improvement in markers of mental health during the deployments.
- A slight dip in mental health markers upon return, due to returning back to everyday life, which hopefully stayed higher than baseline levels.

We furthermore anticipated that improvements would be more pronounced for members who were identified as vulnerable, i.e. those with a prior diagnoses of mental health problems.



Pre Early Mid Late Post

Figure 14. Visualisation of hypothesised results, where higher scores indicate improvements.

Analysis of the results

Total sample

In total 116 valid daily diary measurements were collected across the study period, from a total of 96 individuals who volunteered to submit their data. The results from the data support the hypothesised effect: participating in deployments increased in-the-moment mental health outcomes.

Figure 6 shows the average daily scores for wellbeing-related outcomes (6A) and outcomes of distress and loneliness (6B) across deployment stages. We calculated so-called 'effect sizes', to help in interpreting the magnitude of the impact. Any effect that is indicated as small or higher is a genuine 'observable' significant difference. Most effective wellbeing interventions reach small effects (16), so any similar or higher result is desirable. Overall a significant effect over time was observed, showing improved mental health outcomes, F(20, 76) = 3.26, p < .001; Wilks' $\Lambda =$.54; partial $\eta 2 = .46$.

- For wellbeing-related outcomes, significant increases were noted across all outcomes at end of deployment, with small to moderate effect sizes. For depression, anxiety and loneliness we also found significant small to moderate effects, except for stress.
- Effects post deployment decrease slightly from the end of deployment. Significant small effects remain for feeling useful, purpose, connection with others, loneliness, anxiety and feeling resilient.

Vulnerable sample

We used past diagnosis to identify vulnerable individuals. This cohort showed significant improvements across all outcomes at all timepoints, with moderate to large effect sizes, F(20, 76) = 3.26, p < .001; Wilks' $\Lambda = .54$; partial $\eta 2 =$.46. This highlights that positive effects would be particularly noticeable for people with a more vulnerable mental health status to begin with.



Figure 15A and B. Daily diary measurement visualised per stage of deployment. For wellbeing-related outcomes (left graph) higher scores indicate improvement, while for distress and loneliness outcomes (right graph) lower scores indicate improvement.

What does this say in a nutshell?

Volunteers on average show significant improvements in most mental health outcomes when going on deployments. The magnitude of impact differs per area of mental health we focus on, with the strongest changes being observed for indicators of connection and loneliness, purpose and resilience. Volunteers who are more vulnerable (people with a previous diagnosis and those who have actively sought help for mental health in the past) are the ones who benefit most from going on deployments when it comes to seeing positive changes in mental health outcomes.

Chapter 9. Longitudinal impact of the volunteering program

How did we assess this?

We conducted quarterly surveys over a 12-month period. Participants filled out 10-15 minute surveys on a range of scientifically validated mental health questionnaires. As described in the 'methods' section, questionnaires tapped into positive domains of our mental health (wellbeing, meaning in life, optimism, resilience) and negative domains of our mental health (loneliness, distress, depression, anxiety). All guestionnaires were scientifically validated for use in longitudinal studies. We invited the entire DRA mailing list to participate in the guarterly surveys, which included 'passive' members, who have to date never participated in a DRA deployment or have not participated in a deployment for at least 2 years. These passive members acted as a control group to determine the impact of the program. Further, data from a general population control group was used on occasions to provide insight into how DRA volunteers compare to other members of the Australian population.

This section provides a narrative summary of an extensive set of statistical analyses. In brief, we:

- conducted an analysis on the datapoints for everyone who completed all five quarterly questionnaires (a completer analysis). The technique used was a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA), which interrogate the responses of those participants that provided data on each of the time-points.
- We ran multi-level models, using both the complete original data and a set that we could use to model imputed data.
- To improve the predictive power of the above analyses, we used multiple imputation to model the responses of participants who dropped out. We then ran the same analyses on the imputed dataset to model what the results would look like without drop-out.

The combination of these different analyses techniques, to form judgement on the results, was deemed necessary to counter a number of challenges with the data that caused issues for each of the individual approaches, including for example high levels of drop-out and missing values. By looking at the result of each of them, we aimed to land on a more accurate judgement of the effect of volunteering on wellbeing and mental health in the study.

What did we expect to find?

We expected to see a general improvement in mental health outcomes for members who deployed versus those that were passive. We expected that these changes were more profound for people with more vulnerable mental health.

Analysis of the results

Results for the total sample

We firstly conducted tests on the sample of participants who contributed data to all five timepoints. Out of these 286 participants:

- 80 were Active Deployers
- 65 were part of the DRA control group
- 141 were part of the general population control group.

We could see the hypothesised effect within the data, but the overall analysis failed to reach significance. This indicates that changes over time were not statistically different between the groups. After interrogation of the data, we noticed that participants who only deployed once during the study showed a completely opposite data pattern compared to participants who deployed more than once. Rather than demonstrating a general improvement, this small sample of deployers (n=9) demonstrated a worsening across the outcomes, see graph below.

Figure 16. Wellbeing trajectories for the DRA control group, onetime deployers, and anyone who deployed more than one time (other deployers).

As a consequences, we decided to rerun the



analyses without the one-time deployers in it. We felt this was not only warranted based on the data, but could also be theoretically justified. It can be hypothesised that people who only deploy once are more likely to include people who are not getting a benefit out of DRA as they did not see a reason to return to volunteer. Additionally, it can be argued that just deploying once may not be enough to get a sufficient 'dose' for a long-term effect.

Re-running the analysis on the total sample without the one-time deployers demonstrated a significant small effect when looking at all the mental health outcomes combined, F(48, 502) =1.51, p = .018; Wilks' $\Lambda = .76$; partial $\eta 2 = .13$. What this means is that we have an observable difference between the three groups (active deployers, one-time deployers & DRA control group?) across all the outcomes.

As the combined model was significant, we went on to interrogate the individual outcomes. The graphs for each of the outcomes over time are presented on the following page with positive mental health outcomes on the top row and negative indicators on the bottom row. Significant differences with small effect sizes between groups were noted for wellbeing, optimism, loneliness, distress, depression and anxiety. No differences were noted for the two meaning outcomes, resilience or stress. Any graph with a significant change is demarked with an Asterix.

Looking at the top graphs on the next page –where improvements are better - we can clearly see that the significant differences are driven by improvements in the Active Deployer group, rather than differences between the two control groups. Indeed, post hoc Bonferroni tests show this is the case. A similar finding can be noted in the bottom graphs – where reductions are indicative of a positive change.

After finding the positive effect on the completer analysis using the simpler MANOVA analysis, we continued to run multilevel models for each of the individual outcomes, which allows us to use the data of everyone who contributed, rather than just the data from completers. The multi-level models supported the results found.

Higher impact for more vulnerable volunteers

Similar to the analyses for the deployment substudies, we placed specific focus on the role that vulnerable mental health would play on impact. We created three different variables of interest:

- Prior mental health diagnosis: anyone who indicated they had a formal mental health diagnosis at one stage of their life.
- Current pathology: anyone whose scores for the distress, anxiety, depression and suicide measures reached a risk cut-off.
- Vulnerable: anyone with current pathology as well as people with low wellbeing and resilience (which placed them at risk of future illness).

We re-ran the completer analysis first showing significant overall analyses for each of the three cohorts, with effect sizes being higher compared to the total sample for the vulnerable and current pathology group. The analysis for the group of people with a prior diagnosis was not significant.

Vulnerable	<i>F</i> (48, 320) = 1.69, <i>p</i> = .005;
(n=166)	Wilks' Λ = .64; partial η 2 = .20.
Current	<i>F</i> (48, 132) = 1.84, <i>p</i> = .003;
pathology	Wilks' Λ = .36; partial η2 = .41.
(n=92)	
Prior	<i>F</i> (48, 68) = 1.38, <i>p</i> = .11; Wilks'
diagnosis	Λ = .26; partial η2 = .49.
(n=60)	

Similar to the previous analyses, we re-ran the analyses using mixed models, confirming the findings for the above models, while also returning a significant model for people with a former diagnosis. Although the difference in change was less profound than we saw in the deployment studies.

What does this say in a nutshell?

The quarterly studies provide evidence that indicates mental health outcomes increase over time for actively deploying volunteers, most notably for wellbeing, optimism, loneliness, distress, depression and anxiety. The data suggests that deploying just one time does not lead to improvement and that the rate of positive change was generally higher for people with a riskier mental health background.



Figure 17. Trajectories for each of the main mental health outcomes we monitored across the quarterly studies, split for DRA control participants, DRA active deployers and the general population control group.

Chapter 10. Summary of report findings

This project report summarises the findings of the DRA Wellbeing Study. The study utilised a combination of methodologies to indicate the mental health and wellbeing benefits that members receive from volunteering.

Validation of the DRA wellbeing model

The data gathered in this study finds overall validation of the DRA Wellbeing Model presented within chapter 3. It details in-depth data to support the three levels presented within the model.

DRA offers a unique set of activities and experiences that supports the wellbeing of volunteers



The surveys and qualitative interviews detail the value that volunteers derive from the *unique combination* of activities and experiences that DRA offers its volunteers, which in turn drive a number of positive behaviours that are ultimately responsible for any improvements in mental health. The main elements identified in level 1 of the DRA wellbeing model are:

- Active volunteering deployment and training opportunities offer the opportunity for active volunteering.
- Connection allowing people to form positive relationships with people with similar worldviews.
- Development providing informal and formal upskilling opportunities.
- Recognition being recognised for contribution of valuable skills.
- Supportive conversations creating an environment for supportive conversations for vulnerable members.

Deployments provide a unique setting to support wellbeing.

Although the positive impact of DRA can be brought by any combination of these distinct activities, e.g. upskilling and training opportunities which happen at regular intervals throughout the year, the most profound impact comes from participating in deployments, which effectively are intense periods where each of these mechanisms come together. The insights from chapter 8 provide clear evidence of this positive benefit, by demonstrating significant changes in daily experiences of mental health at the end and immediately after volunteers go on deployments, particularly for people who had vulnerable mental health to begin with.

These positive results for volunteers with vulnerable mental health is of particular interest, as the DRA environment offers a set of active ingredients that are difficult to emulate by mainstay mental health intervention. Deployments allow volunteers to be physically active, thereby quite literally putting their body to good use again. They bring people together, in a pro social environment that stimulates development and promotes a sense of self-worth. As the key focus for deployments is to be active and help others, and as such does not require someone to interrogate and work on their mental health explicitly, it tackles certain limitations of mainstay treatments. For some men for example, it is reported that activity-driven environments may be more suitable and less threatening compared to traditional therapies that require one-on-one conversations.

Connection with like-minded people, encouraging open and supportive conversations.

For veterans and first responders specifically DRA creates connections with people with similar experiences, facilitating the processing of experiences that is more difficult with people who for example are not readily exposed to trauma or have worked within a more strict hierarchical organisational structure. For military veterans, it offers the added benefit for their transition out of the military, by facilitating bonding with civilians who are attracted to the DRA ethos and as such may provide a softer-entry into civilian relationships. For civilians, it provides the opportunity to work within an environment that is highly task oriented and focused on achieving goals and real-life impact that is sometimes difficult to achieve within civilian roles.

Consistent volunteering with DRA leads to significant changes in determinants of good mental health.



On average and by combining insights from the qualitative interviews, deployment studies and quarterly studies, significant benefits to key determinants of someone's mental health were demonstrated, particularly for active deployers. This benefit is noticeable early on in deployments and over a longer period of time. Linking it back to the wellbeing model, data supports changes in the main determinants hypothesised to be responsible for changes in mental health outcomes, being:

- a sense of belonging,
- optimism,
- purpose,
- enjoyment,
- self-worth; and
- competency.

Some of the qualitative interviews spoke to participants noticing immediate profound changes after going on just one deployment. While singular deployments may make a long-lasting *impression*, data from the quarterly studies suggests that participants generally need to go on multiple deployments to see a longer term material impact on mental health. This aligns with established literature on wellbeing interventions that suggest that more intensive interventions – which are generally delivered over time or on an ongoing basis – have more impact (16).

It is important to note that not everyone demonstrates significant improvements. The benefits are most obvious for participants with a more precarious mental health history. For example, people with a past diagnosis of mental illness responded particularly strong in the deployment studies while, people who showed more vulnerable mental health at the start of the study (i.e. those who crossed a risk cut-off on any of our measures) demonstrated more significant change across the quarterly studies.

DRA volunteers have good mental health compared to the general population



The quantitative data showed that DRA volunteers on average have significantly better mental health compared to our general population cohort. As can be inferred from the 12-month data, this difference may be driven by volunteers who actively deploy. That said, DRA volunteers demonstrate other characteristics that can contribute to the difference. For example, current and past helpseeking behaviour was good, pointing to the fact that many of the volunteers are in a good place or are trying to get there.

Finding such positive rates of mental health was somewhat surprising, considering DRA largely attracts veterans and first responders. The positive mental health rates had consequences for our analysis as many participants demonstrated socalled floor- and ceiling effects: it is difficult to see a significant improvement in mental health when someone is already healthy to begin with. This observation in the quantitative data was supported by the interviews with volunteers who indicated they 1) felt they were in a better space than they were before they joined, possibly having already reaped the rewards of volunteering with DRA before the wellbeing study commenced and 2) wanted to join DRA because they felt they needed to give back as their life was going well. This for example can explain why we did not see a longterm shift in meaning in the quarterly studies, despite purpose (a sub-component of meaning) playing such a strong role in the qualitative and free-text data.

What is important to note is that simple maintenance of mental health, rather than improvement, by itself is a positive outcome, particularly considering the study was conducted in a period of volatility in Australia, e.g. following the COVID-19 pandemic and during the recent cost-of-living crisis. Maintaining good wellbeing is protective against developing future illness and as such the lack of improvement for those who were already well therefore does not imply a lack of benefit received.

Practical implications of the findings

The data in this report shows the important role that organisations like DRA can play for veterans: organisations that do not explicitly have a focus on mental health, but due to their modus operandi and culture can make a real difference in helping veterans improve their outlook in life and the way they feel, while at the same time providing an essential service (i.e., disaster relief) to the Australian community. The valuable data that lies at the heart of this report can be used to underpin a set of practical recommendations for DRA to consider so as to maintain and strengthen its impact on volunteer mental health and wellbeing.

One-time deployers

One of the findings of this report suggests that people who only deploy once, may be at a risk of poorer mental health in the future. There may be a multitude of reasons for this finding, some of which were alluded to in the surveys and the interviews. For example the individual may not be in a good mental space to actively volunteer on an ongoing basis, the deployment may not have been a good experience, or they may have been unable to join a planned deployment. Regardless, it is in DRA's vested interest to check-in with these volunteers after a period of at *least 6 months*, as it may help detect vulnerable volunteers, but can also provide DRA with an opportunity to reconnect with people who may wish to re-engage.

The vulnerable volunteer

The data indicates the presence of a cohort of volunteers who currently struggle with active distress or poor wellbeing/resilience (58.3% in total). A continued focus on this cohort is recommended and has indeed been noted through conversations with DRA staff.

This firstly feeds into the work that the Wellbeing Team is doing. Across the data collected, volunteers were generally very supportive of the wellbeing team and the provision of the wellbeing support services that DRA provides. Some members noted that the service will benefit from further professionalisation, as has been happening in recent years, specifically considering DRA's recent growth.

Secondly, it is important to note that continuing to focus on vulnerable volunteers does not equate to adding more services, but rather speaks to DRA continuing to build on its welcoming culture, while at the same time having safeguards in place to help people who need support. The organisation is a volunteer organisation first and foremost. Many people with active symptoms of distress or a diagnosis, lead a meaningful and satisfying life despite experiencing active distress (40). This report shows that the sheer act of volunteering can have positive benefits for those vulnerable members.

Younger volunteers

As is the case across the Australian community and workforce, younger people tend to struggle more with their mental health. Conversely, in DRA, older volunteers have particularly good mental health. Considering the strong focus on camaraderie, social connection and learning from peers, DRA may wish to explore how tapping into the stability of some of its older volunteers may be used to provide a supportive experience for younger volunteers, particularly those who may be vulnerable, e.g. a peer or buddy system to connect during and outside of deployments.

DRA is not suited to everyone

DRA's culture is modelled on a military culture, which has both up and downsides. Based on the interviews, DRA has been working to retain positive elements while stamping out more problematic ones (e.g. continuing an emphasis on more responsible alcohol use during deployments), in line with becoming more professional as an organisation.

Leaning into the positive

One of the key outcomes of this report has implications for the way DRA positions itself when it comes to mental health. While mental health is often discussed in terms of deficits, pathology and challenges, DRA offers opportunities for people to build mental health resources. This will not only make the organisation's focus on wellbeing more applicable to people without immediate symptoms of mental illness, but also brings it in line with contemporary and emerging literature which emphasises the need for ways to improve positive drivers of health, rather than simply targeting the causes of illness. It also allows the organisation to clearly differentiate how it can help veteran wellbeing informally, acting alongside more formal support pathways and services.

What's next?

Despite data collection having come to an end, dissemination of the project's results has only just begun. This report therefore marks the start for analysing the wealth of data collected in this study, with conference presentations and number of peer reviewed publications being prepared.

References

1. Yeung JWK, Zhang Z, Kim TY. Volunteering and health benefits in general adults: cumulative effects and forms. BMC public health. 2018;18(1):1-8.

2. Commonwealth of Australia. Interim report of the Royal Commission into Defence and Veteran Suicide. 2022.

3. Rusu C, Zamorski MA, Boulos D, Garber BG. Prevalence comparison of pastyear mental disorders and suicidal behaviours in the Canadian Armed Forces and the Canadian general population. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2016;61(1 suppl):46S-55S.

4. Commonwealth of Australia. Preliminary Interim Report by the Interim National Commissioner for Defence and Veteran Suicide Prevention. 2021.

5. Magruder KM, Yeager DE. The prevalence of PTSD across war eras and the effect of deployment on PTSD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychiatric Annals. 2009;39(8).

6. Andrews B, Brewin CR, Philpott R, Stewart L. Delayed-onset posttraumatic stress disorder: a systematic review of the evidence. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2007;164(9):1319-26.

7. Elnitsky CA, Fisher MP, Blevins CL. Military service member and veteran reintegration: A conceptual analysis, unified definition, and key domains. Frontiers in psychology. 2017;8:369.

8. Kranke D, Gin J, Saia R, Heslin K, Dobalian A. A qualitative investigation that applies an ecological strengths-based perspective to veterans' experience of reintegration into civilian life. Military Behavioral Health. 2016;4(1):75-81.

9. Wood L, Flatau P, Seivwright A, Wood N. Out of the trenches; prevalence of Australian veterans among the homeless population and the implications for public health. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2022;46(2):134-41.

10. Petrie K, Milligan-Saville J, Gayed A, Deady M, Phelps A, Dell L, et al. Prevalence of PTSD and common mental disorders amongst ambulance personnel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2018;53:897-909.

11. Jones S. Describing the mental health profile of first responders: A systematic review. Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association. 2017;23(3):200-14.

12. Beyond Blue Pty L. Answering the call national survey, National Mental Health and Wellbeing Study of Police and Emergency Services–Final Report. 2018.

 Rikkers W, Lawrence D. Mental health help-seeking experiences and service use among Australian first responders. Australian Journal of Psychology. 2021;73(2):125-33.

14. Morgan A, Reavley N, Jorm A, Bassilios B, Hopwood M, Allen N, Purcell R. A guide to what works for depression: Beyond Blue; 2019.

15. Reavley N, Allen N, Jorm A, Morgan A, Ryan S, Purcell R. A guide to what works for anxiety: Beyond Blue Melbourne; 2013.

16. van Agteren J, Iasiello M, Lo L. An evidence review of the interventions that improve mental wellbeing. Melbourne: Beyond Blue; 2023.

17. Konrath S. The power of philanthropy and volunteering. Wellbeing: A complete reference guide. 2014:1-40.

18. Black W, Living R. Volunteerism as an occupation and its relationship to health and wellbeing. British Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2004;67(12):526-32.

19. Curry OS, Rowland LA, Van Lissa CJ, Zlotowitz S, McAlaney J, Whitehouse H. Happy to help? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of performing acts of kindness on the well-being of the actor. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology. 2018;76:320-9. 20. Steger MF, Shin JY, Shim Y, Fitch-Martin A. Is meaning in life a flagship indicator of well-being? 2013.

21. Military and Emergency Services Health Australia(MESHA). Independent qualitative analysis of DRA 'member reflections'. 2022.

22. Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007;5(1):63.

23. Smith BW, Dalen J, Wiggins K, Tooley E, Christopher P, Bernard J. The brief resilience scale: assessing the ability to bounce back. International journal of behavioral medicine. 2008;15(3):194-200.

24. Steger MF, Frazier P, Oishi S, Kaler M. The meaning in life questionnaire: assessing the presence of and search for meaning in life. Journal of counseling psychology. 2006;53(1):80.

25. Glaesmer H, Rief W, Martin A, Mewes R, Brähler E, Zenger M, Hinz A. Psychometric properties and populationbased norms of the Life Orientation Test Revised (LOT-R). British journal of health psychology. 2012;17(2):432-45.

26. Krynen A, Osborne D, Duck IM, Houkamau CA, Sibley CG. Measuring psychological distress in New Zealand: Item response properties and demographic differences in the Kessler-6 screening measure. New Zealand Journal of Psychology. 2013;42(2):69-83.

27. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2001;16(9):606-13.

28. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. Archives of Internal Medicine.

2006;166(10):1092-7.

29. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A Short Scale for Measuring Loneliness in Large Surveys: Results From Two Population-Based Studies. Res Aging. 2004;26(6):655-72.

30. Fereday J, Muir-Cochrane E.
Demonstrating rigor using thematic analysis:
A hybrid approach of inductive and deductive coding and theme development.
International journal of qualitative methods.
2006;5(1):80-92.

31. Fried EI. Studying mental health problems as systems, not syndromes.Current Directions in Psychological Science.2022;31(6):500-8.

32. Forbes MK, Neo B, Nezami OM, Fried EI, Faure K, Michelsen B, et al. Elemental psychopathology: distilling constituent symptoms and patterns of repetition in the diagnostic criteria of the DSM-5. Psychol Med. 2023:1-9.

33. Iasiello M, van Agteren J, Ali K, Fassnacht DB, Kyrios M, Kashdan T, Kolovos E. What's the difference between measures of wellbeing, quality of life, resilience, and coping? An umbrella review and concept map of 155 measures of positive mental health. 2023.

34. Schafer KM, Kennedy G, Gallyer A, Resnik P. A direct comparison of theorydriven and machine learning prediction of suicide: A meta-analysis. PloS one. 2021;16(4):e0249833.

35. Agteren J, Iasiello M. Advancing our understanding of mental wellbeing and mental health: The call to embrace complexity over simplification. Australian Psychologist. 2020;55(4):307-16.

36. Keyes CLM. Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: a complementary strategy for improving national mental health. American psychologist. 2007;62(2):95.

37. Thompson JM, Vogt D, Pedlar D. Success in life after service: A perspective on conceptualizing the well-being of military Veterans. Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health. 2022;8(3):129-39. 38. Regier DA, Kuhl EA, Kupfer DJ. The DSM-5: Classification and criteria changes. World psychiatry. 2013;12(2):92-8.

39. Iasiello M, Van Agteren J. Mental health and/or mental illness: A scoping review of the evidence and implications of the dual-continua model of mental health. Evidence Base: A journal of evidence reviews in key policy areas. 2020(1):1-45.

40. Van Weeghel J, van Zelst C, Boertien D, Hasson-Ohayon I. Conceptualizations, assessments, and implications of personal recovery in mental illness: A scoping review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Psychiatric rehabilitation journal. 2019;42(2):169.

41. Wood AM, Joseph S. The absence of positive psychological (eudemonic) wellbeing as a risk factor for depression: A ten year cohort study. Journal of affective disorders. 2010;122(3):213-7.

42. Burns RA, Windsor T, Butterworth P, Anstey KJ. The protective effects of wellbeing and flourishing on long-term mental health risk. SSM-Mental Health. 2022;2:100052.

43. Iasiello M, van Agteren J, Keyes CLM, Cochrane EM. Positive mental health as a predictor of recovery from mental illness. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2019;251:227-30.

44. Oster C, Morello A, Venning A, Redpath P, Lawn S. The health and wellbeing needs of veterans: a rapid review. BMC psychiatry. 2017;17(1):1-14.

45. Xiao Y, Brown TT. Moving suicide prevention upstream by understanding the effect of flourishing on suicidal ideation in midlife: an instrumental variable approach. Scientific reports. 2023;13(1):1320.

46. Levey DF, Gelernter J, Polimanti R, Zhou H, Cheng Z, Aslan M, et al. Reproducible genetic risk loci for anxiety: results from~ 200,000 participants in the Million Veteran Program. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2020;177(3):223-32. 47. Mobbs MC, Bonanno GA. Beyond war and PTSD: The crucial role of transition stress in the lives of military veterans.

Clinical psychology review. 2018;59:137-44.
48. Díaz-Oliván I, Porras-Segovia A,
Barrigón ML, Jiménez-Muñoz L, Baca-Garcia
E. Theoretical models of suicidal behaviour:
A systematic review and narrative synthesis.
The European Journal of Psychiatry.
2021;35(3):181-92.

49. Sokol Y, Gromatsky M, Edwards ER, Greene AL, Geraci JC, Harris RE, Goodman M. The deadly gap: Understanding suicide among veterans transitioning out of the military. Psychiatry research. 2021;300:113875.

50. Misca G, Augustus J, Russell J, Walker J. Meaning (s) of transition (s) from military to civilian life at the intersection with mental health: implications for clinical settings. Frontiers in Psychology. 2023;14:1142528.

51. VanderWeele TJ. On the promotion of human flourishing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2017;114(31):8148-56.

52. Resnick SG, Rosenheck RA. Recovery and positive psychology: Parallel themes and potential synergies. Psychiatric Services.

2006;57(1):120-2.

53. McCaslin SE, Bramlett D, Juhasz K, Mackintosh M, Springer S. Veterans and disaster response work: The role of continued service in meaning making and recovery. Positive psychological approaches to disaster: Meaning, resilience, and posttraumatic growth. 2020:61-79.

54. Derefinko KJ, Hallsell TA, Isaacs MB, Colvin LW, Salgado Garcia FI, Bursac Z. Perceived needs of veterans transitioning from the military to civilian life. The journal of behavioral health services & research. 2019;46:384-98.

55. Vogt D. Mental health-related beliefs as a barrier to service use for military personnel and veterans: a review. Psychiatric services. 2011;62(2):135-42. 56. Coleman SJ, Stevelink SAM, Hatch SL, Denny JA, Greenberg N. Stigma-related barriers and facilitators to help seeking for mental health issues in the armed forces: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative literature. Psychological medicine. 2017;47(11):1880-92.

57. Sharp M-L, Fear NT, Rona RJ, Wessely S, Greenberg N, Jones N, Goodwin L. Stigma as a barrier to seeking health care among military personnel with mental health problems. Epidemiologic reviews. 2015;37(1):144-62.

58. Tierney S, Mahtani KR, Wong G, Todd J, Roberts N, Akinyemi O, et al. The role of volunteering in supporting well-being–What might this mean for social prescribing? A best-fit framework synthesis of qualitative research. Health & Social Care in the Community. 2022;30(2):e325-e46.

59. Drebing CE, Reilly E, Henze KT, Kelly
M, Russo A, Smolinsky J, et al. Using peer
support groups to enhance community
integration of veterans in transition.
Psychological Services. 2018;15(2):135.
60. Sørensen DH. Exploring men's
experiences of engagement with

community-based projects promoting men's mental health. 2021.

61. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Study of Mental Health and Wellbeing. ABS; 2020-2022.

62. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2008;4:1-32.